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COMPANY PROFILE
o A

China Financial Leasing Group Limited (Stock Code: 2312,
“CFLG” or the “Company”, with its subsidiary, collectively the
“Group”) is an investment company. Incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in
October 2002 under Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange.

According to the Investor and Financial Education Council in
Hong Kong, definition of Chapter 21 companies is as follows:

“The primary business of Chapter 21 companies is to invest in
listed or unlisted securities, including warrants, money market
instruments, commodities, options and futures contracts as well
as other collective investment schemes. As the investment
performance is closely related to the Company’s result and
return to shareholders, they need investment managers with
experience, expertise and integrity.”

CFLG principally engages in the investment of listed and/or
unlisted securities, predominantly focusing in the China and
Hong Kong market region. As we strive to create value for our
shareholders, we adopt prudent investment approach in
selecting potential investment opportunities, and at the same
time leveraging on favorable market conditions to maximize
return. Our investment team consist of well experienced
professional with in depth market knowledge, as well as
possessing extensive product knowledge in various investment
products such as stocks, derivatives products, bonds etc.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
Cf i

Dear Shareholders,

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is pleased
to present you with the 2024 Annual Report of China Financial
Leasing Group Limited (the “Company”), with its subsidiary
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Hong Kong stock market finally reversed previous years of
dismal performance by delivering strong recovery gains in 2024,
driven by mainland stimulus measures as well as undemanding
equity valuations. Average daily turnover in 2024 increased by
25.5% compared to 2023, while funds raised through initial
public offerings also experienced a significant jump of 89% over
2023 figures, signalling investors’ willingness to return to the
market. During the latter half of the year, the U.S. Federal
Reserve also initiated three consecutive rate cuts totalling 1%
since September 2024.

PRC ECONOMY

China’s economy grew by 5% in 2024, boosted by
greater-than-expected growth in the fourth quarter that helped
meet the government’s yearly target. Growth in industrial output,
as well as exports, continued to far outpace the sluggish retail
sales growth, with persistent deflationary measures at the
consumer sector level. The Renminbi, while enjoying a brief
period of strength against the US dollar during the third quarter,
could not sustain such gains and continued to weaken for the
year. Throughout the year, the People’s Bank of China also
launched various monetary measures, such as lowering
mortgage rates, cutting the reserve requirement ratio, and
initiating a major move to set up a swap facility that allows
non-bank financial institutions access to buy shares, a move
aimed at stabilizing the mainland stock market.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
C R i

PROSPECT

Despite early weakness, the HSI has enjoyed persistent strength
since the middle of January 2025, during which the index gained
over 4,000 points. This surge was sparked by Deepseek, a
little-known Hangzhou-based company that made global
headlines and completely altered market expectations in the Al
sector. With its low-cost, open-source code innovation capable
of generating results comparable to major players like ChatGPT,
investors have heavily sought after Chinese tech stocks in the
current rally, triggering additional buying in similar sectors. This
trend has fuelled further optimism for a promising outlook for the
Hong Kong market for the rest of the year, especially with the
mainland set to continue launching further stimulus measures to
revive the capital market. The Group’s financial position remain
sound and continue to hold liquid investments in the portfolio, in
which we are poised to capture any sound investment
opportunities shall it arises. On behalf of the Board, allow me to
express our sincere appreciation to the shareholders for their
continuous support.

Lui Cheuk Hang Henri
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 February 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CENEE Y&

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Last year, the Hong Kong stock market finally delivered
encouraging and promising performance after the dismal
showings of 2022 and 2023. However, throughout the year, it
continued to experience fluctuations and faced headwinds in the
form of geopolitical tensions, regulatory challenges, and
macroeconomic pressures, which posed both challenges and
opportunities for investors. The Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) broke
the 14,800 level in January 2024 due to a sustained sell-off and
liquidity crunch, as well as ongoing tensions between the US and
China regarding trade, technology, and finance. Subsequently, in
the second quarter, the HSI staged a mini rally of over 3,000
points, driven by the Chinese government’s policies aimed at
economic stimulation and growth, as well as guidelines to boost
the capital market. Despite this rally, sector rotation remained a
strong theme, with selective tech and healthcare stocks
attracting institutional and retail buying interest, while traditional
sectors, such as Hong Kong and mainland property developers,
continued to underperform the market due to their respective
challenges and headwinds. Overall, the HSI struggled to break
out of a range as investor sentiment remained cautious due to
external uncertainties. Investor confidence was fragile, influenced
by geopolitical developments and mixed economic signals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o T Wt K o At

The tech-heavy composition of the HSI staged a significant rally
of about 6,000 points within a one-month period from
September to October 2024. China launched targeted stimulus
measures aimed at boosting domestic consumption, supporting
property markets, and enhancing infrastructure spending,
sparking hopes for stabilization and recovery in the mainland
economy. Consequently, investors flocked to the mainland and
Hong Kong markets, with large tech companies and mainland
financial stocks experiencing the biggest gains during the rally.
The Hong Kong market’s turnover reached a record high of
HK$620 billion on October 8, and the average daily turnover for
September and October also saw year-on-year growth of 87%
and 224%, respectively. However, the market experienced a
quick and steep correction soon after, with turnover gradually
declining, leaving some investors trapped at the peak of the rally.
Nonetheless, 2024 was a good year for the Hong Kong market,
with the HSI rising 17.7% to close at 20,059, while the Hang
Seng Tech Index rose 18.7% to close at 4,468 for the year.
However, such gains remained lower than the 23.3% rise in
S&P500 and 19.2% gain in Nikkei 225 indices respectively. The
Group recorded net fair value gains on listed investments of
approximately HK$885,000 for the year ended December 31,
2024.

The ever-changing Sino-US relationship will continue to be a
significant factor moving forward especially with Trump taking a
second term in office, affecting a wide range of sectors including
tech and other industries sensitive to trade relations. Ongoing
geopolitical risks, including Trump launching tariff measures
against Canada and Mexico, and to a slightly lesser extent
toward China, have created a significant cloud of uncertainty in
the global financial market. However, we believe that the adverse
impact on China has largely been discounted by the market. As
China continues to implement fiscal stimulus policies and easing
measures to revive and stimulate economic growth, along with
the government’s efforts to tackle structural issues such as the
real estate crisis, we believe the Hong Kong stock market is
poised for further recovery for the rest of the year, with
international investors reallocating funds back to the mainland
and Hong Kong markets. We will continue to monitor and
navigate these complexities carefully, keeping an eye on the
evolving regulatory landscape and China’s economic policies.
The Group will continue to identify suitable listed and unlisted
investment opportunities to optimize the investment portfolio and
implement its risk management policy to achieve satisfactory
returns for the shareholders.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CENEE Y&

FINANCIAL REVIEW
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the Group’s listed
investments was approximately HK$74,940,000 (2023:
HK$58,951,000) while carrying value of the Group’s unlisted
investment was nil (2023: nil).

The Group recorded sales proceeds from disposals of trading
listed securities of approximately HK$188,049,000 (2023:
HK$99,688,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
realised gains and unrealised losses (2023: the realised losses
and unrealised gains) on financial assets at FVTPL for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were approximately HK$2,136,000
(2023: HK$7,165,000) and HK$1,251,000 (2023: HK$2,214,000)
respectively. Loss for the year was approximately HK$2,035,000
(2023: HK$7,967,000) which was mainly attributable to the
operating expenses and listed investments gains.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MAJOR INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$74,940,000 Listed below are the

particulars of the Group’s major listed securities:

FERE
R-ZE-_WMF+-_A=+—8 ' A&E
BEEABREATEFECHBEE
2 R74,940,0008 L AKRB X E I
MEHFFBEERHINET

As at 31 December 2024 For the year ended 31 December 2024
RZ8RETZAZT-B BECRCMET-AST-ALER
Approximate
percentage of
investment
Approximate attributable to
Number of - percentage of Market value/  the Group's Dividend Dividend Sales Realised gain/  Unrealised  Fair value
Stock Code ~ Name of investees shares  interest held Cost Marketprices  fairvalue  netassets received cover  proceeds loss)  gain/floss)  gain/(loss)
55E
i EERERE B8% 745 AFE
Rt BERY i/ ZRERK b hE s/ s/ s/
54 FRENR %R ok AAtt A [ ATE aat RE  REhE  FERE (£8) (F8) (58)
(000) (HK§000) [HKS)  (HKS000) (HKS'000) (HKS000,  HKS000)  (HKSO00)  (HKS00O)
(TR (T#r) (Bn) (A7) (Fin) (Fn)  (Fén)  (FEn)  (Fin)
q 88 SMART CITY DEVELOPMENT 9952 346% 8,001 108 10748 13.84% - N/A - - 6420 6420
HOLDINGS LIMITED (SMART TER
Cmy)
2R IRERDT
(&)
b 40 HK GREEN BOND 2505 100 N/A 9909 9.30 9930 12.7%% N/A N/A 692 18 2 )
[HKGB RGB 2505 TER iy ki TR
ﬁ[ﬁ1 illl: i
SIS J
o 4an HK GREEN BOND 2610 9% N/A 997 10215 9806 1263% N/A N/A 2781 (1) (151) (152)
(HKGB RGB 2610') TR TR TR
Hﬁﬁ% e A
)
q 4286 HK INFRASTRUTURE BOND 2712 4 N/A 4512 10030 4514 581% N/A N/A 2 2
[HKGB RB 2712 TER ik iR
BRARRREA L —Z
(BREE=t—2))
g 108 BRADAVERSE EDUCATION (NT') 2400 less than 1% 3991 178 4m 55% - NA 576 576
INVESTMENTS GROUP LIMITED HR1% TR
[ BRADA\/ERSE EDUCAT\ON )
REY5 (ER) RELE
ERA7
([FzE4E))
f VEEA VEEAINC.(VEEAING) 120 less than 1% 3911 381 3567 458% - NiA - - 34 34
VEEA INC. ([VEEA ING.) SR 8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
GCENCEF )Y

As at 31 December 2024 For the year ended 31 December 2024
RZZZBETZR=t-R BECRIREToAZT-BLER
Approximate
percentage of
investment
Approximate attributable to
Number of - percentage of Market value/  the Group's Dividend Dividend Sales Realised gain/  Unrealised  Fair value
Stock Code  Name of investees shares  interest held Cost Marketprices  fairvalue  netassets received cover  proceeds loss) gainffloss)  gain/(loss)
558
it HERERE BE% 25 AFE
ki E&EY T8/ 2REEN WHZ L& i/ i/ i/
% g0k ] ot AAtt B e ATE Aal Re  REhE  FERE (F8) (F8) (F8)
(000) (HK§000) [HKS)  (HKS000) (HKS 000) HKS000  (HKSO0O)  (HKSO00  (HKS'00)
(TR (Thr) (Bn) (A (A7) (Fén)  (Fén) (Fn)  (Fin)
g B HONG KONG EXCHANGES AND 1 lessthan 1% 3448 29480 3243 418% 67 11 70 3 20 315
CLEARNG LTD. QHKEx"J HiM%
AL RESHERLE
(I&ERA4))
VI CHINA HANKING HOLDINGS LIMITED 3800 lessthan 1% 2753 017 296 3% 182 365 - - (114) (114)
(‘CHINA HANKING') D%
REFTARERAR (%
A%1))
] BRKB BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 07 lessthan 1% 2488 45328 2469 3.18% - N/A 459 162 (15) 17
('BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY ING." HR1% TER
BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY
INC-CL B(BERKSHRE
HATHAWAY INC. )
) %28 CHINA LIFE INSURANCE CO. LTD. 160 lessthen 1% 2912 1468 2349 303% 3 6.75 245 iy (569 (322
(‘CHINALIFE’) HR1%
PEASRBRAERAT
(IREAE])
K MSFT MICROSOFT CORPORATION 07 lessthan 1% 2412 09150 229 296% 2 391 4508 5 (132) 67)
('MICROSOFT Corp’) H%
) QTHER UISTED INVESTMENTS N/A N/A 43364 N/A 18,831 A.25% 680 N/A 166,025 1528 (7144 (5616)
it rif& TEE TR TR
Total 97658 74940 96.52% 932 188,049 21% (1,251) 885
it
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The realised and unrealised gains on listed investments totalled
to approximately HK$885,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024.

For the listed investments held as at 31 December 2024, the
realised gains and unrealised gains were approximately
HK$974,000 and HK$790,000 respectively. For those listed
investments held but were sold during the year ended 31
December 2024, the realised gains and unrealised losses were
approximately HK$1,162,000 and HK$2,041,000 respectively.

(a)

Smart City

Smart City is principally engaged in the activities of
construction business, as a main contractor and fitting out
works, as well as the provision of electrical and mechanical
engineering services, mainly in Hong Kong and Macau, and
other construction related businesses. Their other business
includes investment in securities, property investment as
well as money lending. The unaudited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Smart City for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 was approximately
HK$8,782,000. As at 30 September 2024, the unaudited
consolidated net asset value attributable to owners of
Smart City was approximately HK$135,350,000.

The Investment Committee of the Company (the
“Investment Committee”) noted that while the revenue of
Smart City grew significantly due to the recognition of
revenue for main contractor works on proposed residential
redevelopment sites in some areas, their gross profit margin
continued to suffer. This was primarily attributed to lower
contract prices resulting from intensified market competition
and higher labor costs stemming from a shortage of skilled
labor in the construction segment.

The Investment Committee believed that despite the
remaining uncertain economic environment in the Greater
China region throughout the year, Smart City’s proven track
record and their numerous licenses, permits, and
qualifications would enable them to continue securing
government contracts in the foreseeable future.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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() HKGB RGB 2505

(c)

HKGB RGB 2505 is a retail green bond issued by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, with the maturity
date of 19 May 2025. It pays interest every 6 months and
the coupon rate is based on the higher of (i) the floating
rate, being the arithmetic average of the year-on-year rates
of change in the Composite Consumer Price Index
compiled and published by the Census and Statistics
Department of HKSAR Government based on the results of
the most recent Household Expenditure Survey at the
relevant interest determination date (currently being the
2019/20-based Composite Consumer Price Index) for the 6
most recent preceding months, rounded to the nearest two
decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of 2.50%.

The Investment Committee believed that investing in the
green bond is a very effective way to diversify our portfolio.
The effective interest rate return is comparable to, if not
more favorable than, fixed deposit rates in Hong Kong.
Moreover, the instrument is listed and tradable with
respectable liquidity, permitting us the option to adjust our
holdings depending on the situation within the equities and
bond markets.

HKGB RGB 2610

HKGB RGB 2610 is a retail green bond issued by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, with the maturity
date of 12 October 2026. It pays interest every 6 months
and the coupon rate is based on the higher of (i) the floating
rate, being the arithmetic average of the year-on-year rates
of change in the Composite Consumer Price Index
compiled and published by the Census and Statistics
Department of HKSAR Government based on the results of
the most recent Household Expenditure Survey at the
relevant interest determination date (currently being the
2019/20-based Composite Consumer Price Index) for the 6
most recent preceding months, rounded to the nearest two
decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of 4.75%.

(b)

(c)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
GCENCEE )i

(d)

The Investment Committee believed that investing in the
green bond is a very effective way to diversify our portfolio.
The effective interest rate return is comparable to, if not
more favorable than, fixed deposit rates in Hong Kong.
Moreover, the instrument is listed and tradable with
respectable liquidity, permitting us the option to adjust our
holdings depending on the situation within the equities and
bond markets.

HKGB RIB 2712

HKGB RIB 2712 is a retail infrastructure bond issued by
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, with the maturity
date of 17 December 2027. It pays interest every 6 months
and the coupon rate is based on the higher of (i) the floating
rate, being the arithmetic average of the year-on-year rates
of change in the Composite Consumer Price Index
compiled and published by the Census and Statistics
Department of HKSAR Government based on the results of
the most recent Household Expenditure Survey at the
relevant interest determination date (currently being the
2019/20-based Composite Consumer Price Index) for the 6
most recent preceding months, rounded to the nearest two
decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of 3.50%.

The Investment Committee believed that while the latest
retail infrastructure bond offering by the HKSAR
Government offers a slightly lower coupon rate than the
previous issue, it is still an attractive, essentially risk-free
investment during an uncertain investment environment and
offers the Group flexibility in reshuffling its portfolio should
suitable opportunities arise.
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(e)

Bradaverse Education

Bradaverse Education is principally engaged in the provision
of private educational services, which include primary
tutoring services, skill course and test preparation courses,
secondary tutoring services and English language training
and test preparation courses. The audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Bradaverse Education for the year
ended 30 June 2024 was approximately HK$27,558,000.
As at 30 June 2024, the audited consolidated net asset
value attributable to owners of Bradaverse Education was
approximately HK$104,630,000.

The Investment Committee noticed that Bradaverse core
business of provision of private educational service has
contributed a positive gross profit level though their
investment in securities section continue to record loss in
fair value changes due to the bearish sentiment in Hong
Kong and global stock market.

The Investment Committee concurred with Bradaverse
Education view that with the application of VR, augmented
reality and artificial intelligence to their distinct businesses,
students can allocate their study schedules flexibly without
geographical and time boundaries. Bradaverse strategy to
develop its artificial intelligence and digital education
business in China begins to take shape as well with their
cooperation agreement with Shenzhen tech company to a
framework for collaboration aimed at promoting Al-enabled
educational reform and innovation, as well as high-end
vocational training business. Such cooperation agreement
will assist the Group in expanding its artificial intelligence
education business in China.
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VEEA Inc.

Veea Inc. provides computing, multiaccess multiprotocol
communications, edge storage, and cybersecurity solutions.
Veea Inc. offers multiaccess edge computing platform that
redefines connectivity and computing at the edge by
integrating functions of servers, network attached storage,
routers, firewalls, Wi-Fi Access Points, IoT gateways, and
4G and 5G connections; and Veea Edge Platform enables
direct connections from the optical fiber, cellular, and
satellite networks. It also provides VeeaHub STAX, an edge
computing product integrated with wireless access. Veea
Inc. also offers TROLLEE, a smart shopping cart platform.
The unaudited consolidated loss attributable to owners of
Veea Inc. for the nine months ended 30 Septemebr 2024
was approximately US$46,620,000. As at 30 Septemebr
2024, the unaudited consolidated net liabilities value
attributable to owners of Veea Inc. was approximately
US$8,005,000.

The Investment Committee noticed that Veea has been
active in forming strategic partnerships and expanding its
market presence, with their. announcements of
collaborations with DeepGreenX and AECOM, as well as
partnerships aimed at enhancing connectivity solutions in
various sectors, including agriculture and smart cities. Veea
Inc. management target to penetrate new markets by
exploring opportunities in healthcare, transportation, and
smart infrastructure, leveraging its technology to provide
tailored solutions for various industries, could become one
of the catalysts for their upcoming price performance
ahead.
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(9) HKEx () BEXZMR

HKEx is one of the world’s major exchange groups, and

ERERGMRUERTENRSM

operates a range of equity, commodity, fixed income and EB— EBHESERE - X
currency markets. HKEx is the world’s leading IPO market THEm CENEMER FAXR

and as Hong Kong’s only securities and derivatives
exchange and sole operator of its clearing houses, it is
uniquely placed to offer regional and international investors
access to Asia’s most vibrant markets. HKEx is also a
global leader in metals futures and options contracts,
through its wholly owned subsidiaries, The London Metal
Exchange (LME) and LME Clearing Limited. This commodity
franchise was further enhanced with the launch of Qianhai
Mercantile Exchange, in China, in 2018. The audited
consolidated profit attributable to owners of HKEx for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$13,050 million. As at 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated net asset value attributable to owners of HKEx
was approximately HK$53,852 million.

The Investment Committee believed the introduction of new
listing rules and mechanisms, such as the dual-class share
structure, is expected to encourage more firms such as
technology and biotech sector to list on the exchange.
Same with the growing trend of Chinese companies
seeking to list in Hong Kong, in which HKEX is
well-positioned to capture this influx due to its status as a
leading international financial hub. With China continues to
implement economic reforms and open its markets, HKEx
could benefit from increased capital flows and investment
opportunities.
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(h) China Hanking

China Hanking is principally engaged in the exploration,
mining, processing and sale of mineral resources. China
Hanking operates its business through three segments,
namely, iron core, high-purity iron and gold. The unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to owners of China Hanking
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was approximately
RMB107,467,000. As at 30 June 2024, the unaudited
consolidated net asset value attributable to owners of China
Hanking was RMB1,468,953,000.

The Investment Committee noticed that China Hanking
achieved profitability in 2023 due to management’s focus
on stabilizing production, which led to a healthy increase in
its annual output of iron. At the same time, they managed
to lower the operating costs of the iron core business.
China Hanking’s resumption of dividend payments was also
an encouraging sign for its shareholders.

The Investment Committee believed that the subsequent
release of China Hanking’s strong interim results confirmed
the bullish trend in their core operations, which were also
backed by the payout of an interim dividend. In addition,
their deal to dispose of their large-scale gold project in
North Australia at favorable terms is expected to record a
gain of approximately AUD150 million and enable them to
deploy the proceeds to help them develop into a
sustainable gold-producing company, as well as possibly
return part of the gain back to shareholders as dividends in
the future.
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Berkshire Hathaway Inc.

Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and its subsidiaries are engaged in
diverse business activities, including insurance and
reinsurance, utilities and energy, freight rail transportation,
manufacturing, services, and retailing. However, it is most
famous as the flagship investment vehicle run by investment
legend Warren Buffett. Its biggest holdings include Bank of
America, Apple Inc., Coca-Cola, and Kraft Heinz. The
audited consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately US$88,995 million. As of 31
December 2024, the audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the owners of Berkshire Hathaway Inc. was
approximately US$651,655 million.

The Investment Committee believed that Berkshire
Hathaway is one of the more stable investments in the U.S.
market, diversified from the higher trading volatility of big
tech stocks, given its highly diversified investments across
industries, including insurance, energy, railroads,
manufacturing, and consumer products. Sitting on an
all-time cash pile of roughly US$334 billion, according to
the latest published figures, this conglomerate is extremely
well-positioned to invest in undervalued companies with
strong fundamentals and long-term growth potential.
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China Life

China Life is a leading life insurance company in China and
possesses an extensive distribution network comprising
exclusive agents, direct sales representatives, and
dedicated and non-dedicated agencies. It is one of the
largest institutional investors in China and becomes one of
the largest insurance asset management companies in
China through its controlling shareholding in China Life
Asset Management Company Limited. China Life also has
controlling shareholding in China Life Pension Company
Limited and is a leading provider of life insurance, annuity
insurance, health and accident insurance in China. As at the
end of the June 2024, China Life had approximately 328
million long-term insurance policies in force. The unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to owners of China Life for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 was approximately
RMB38,278 million. As at 30 June 2024, the unaudited
consolidated net asset value attributable to owners of China
Life was RMB493,834 million.

The Investment Committee noted that the drop in net profit
for China Life in 2023 was to be expected due to the slow
and gradual resumption of growth for the mainland
economy post-COVID, as well as the challenging
investment environment for the year. China Life’s 2024
interim results already demonstrate steady improvements,
with its market-leading position further solidified and
operational efficiency significantly enhanced.

The Investment Committee believed China Life upcoming
growth prospect will highly be dependent on the how
robust of resumption growth can the mainland economy
achieved ahead, which could translate into higher demand
for their insurance products.
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(k)

Microsoft Corp

Microsoft creates platforms and tools powered by artificial
Intelligence (“Al”) to deliver innovative solutions that meet
the evolving needs of customers. It also develops and
supports software, services, devices and solutions
worldwide. The Productivity and Business Processes
segment offers office, exchange, SharePoint, Microsoft
Teams, office 365 Security and Compliance, Microsoft viva,
and Microsoft 365 copilot; and office consumer services,
such as Microsoft 365 consumer subscriptions, Office
licensed on-premises, and other office services. The
unaudited consolidated profit attributable to owners of
Microsoft Corp for the six months ended 31 December
2024 was approximately US$48,775 million. As at 31
December 2024, the unaudited consolidated net asset
value attributable to owners of Microsoft Corp was
approximately US$302,695 million.

The Investment Committee believed Microsoft is one of the
core picks in the Al sector, as its prospects are robust,
driven by several key initiatives and investments, such as
Microsoft’'s major investment in OpenAl and the integration
of Al technology into products like Azure and Microsoft 365.
At the same time, Microsoft is positioning itself as a leader
in providing Al solutions for enterprises, helping businesses
harness the power of Al for operational efficiency and
decision-making. Microsoft’'s Al capabilities should drive
significant growth in revenue and market share over the
next several years, providing a strong reason for further
share price growth ahead.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group maintained cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$3,374,000 (2023:
HK$1,179,000) which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"). The Group will monitor the exposure and take
prudent measures when necessary.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net assets of
approximately HK$77,639,000 (2023: HK$60,170,000), the
Group had no borrowings or long-term liabilities except for the
lease liabilities.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt divided by
shareholders’ equity. Total debt comprises borrowings and lease
liabilities. Total equity comprises all components of equity. The
Group aims to maintain the debt-to-equity ratio at a reasonable
level. The debt-to-equity ratio as the end of the reporting period
is as follows:

RBEE  MBERRESE

RZE-_WMF+_A=+—H8 ' A5E
HwIRFIES MR FEEE 453,374,000
BT (ZE =4 1,179,000/ 7T) * =
ENABT(BRDEE - A5EBEEE
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— =% :60,170,000/% 7t) ' NEBEKRHE
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2024 2023

—E-NF —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FAET

Lease liabilities HEAE 368 93
Total debt HER 368 93
Total equity MR 77,639 60,170
Debt-to-equity ratio B R 0.5% 0.2%

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s total issued shares
was 346,897,482 of HK$0.04 each (2023: 173,448,741 of
HK$0.04 each). The Group had no debt securities or other
capital instruments as at 31 December 2024.
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On 1 December 2023, the Company entered into an
underwriting agreement with Lego Securities Limited in respect
of the Rights Issue up to 173,448,741 rights share at HK$0.12
each to certain qualifying shareholders. The intended and actual
use of proceeds from the Rights Issue certain was for general
working capital and investments.

The transaction was completed in February 2024. A total of
173,448,741 shares were issued. The gross and net proceeds
was approximately HK$20,814,000 and HK$19,504,000
respectively. The net price was approximately HK$0.11 per rights
share.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE
The gross proceeds raised from the Rights Issue are
approximately HK$20.8 million and the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue after expenses are approximately HK$19.5 million.
The Company applies HK$16.6 million, being the approximately
85.13% of the net proceeds, for investment in listed securities;
and approximately HK$2.9 million, being approximately 14.87%
of the net proceeds, for general working capital of the Company,
such as administrative expenses, including but not limited to
office rent, salaries and allowances and legal and professional
fees.

The Use of Rights Issue Proceeds as at 31 December 2024

Planned use of
the proceeds
as stated in the
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Unutilised net
proceeds up to
31 December

Actual use of
proceeds as at
31 December

Announcement 2024 2024
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events occurred after the financial report
date.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any significant merger, acquisition or
disposal during the year ended 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 2 employees. Total
employee benefits expenses (excluding Directors’ emoluments)
and Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December
2024 were approximately HK$409,000 (2023: HK$722,000) and
HK$1,451,000 (2023: HK$1,107,000) respectively. The
remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed annually and
employees are remunerated based on their performance,
experience and the prevailing market practice. No Director or
executive is involved in dealing with his own remuneration.

In addition to salary payments, the Group has participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to the
rules of the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
each employee’s monthly relevant income subject to a monthly
maximum amount of HK$1,500.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, there were no
charges on the Group’s assets.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with
such requirements may affect the substantiality of the business.
The Group has allocated various resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

During the year under review, the Group has in material
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is principally engaged in short to medium term capital
appreciation by investing in a diversified portfolio of investments
in listed and unlisted securities, which are exposed to certain
market risks including price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The details are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements under the section headed
“Financial Risk Management”.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the year, the investments of the Group were mainly
denominated in HK$. Therefore, there was no material foreign
exchange exposure to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year, the Group had no contingent liabilities noted by
the Directors (2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 December 2024, the significant investments of the
Group are included in the Group’s investments under the section
headed “Major Investments” in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits
whilst to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman
Islands, the articles of association of the Company and any
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board of the Company may from time to time determine and
pay to the shareholders such interim dividends as it considers
appropriate. The Board may recommend the payment of final
dividends which are required to be approved by shareholders in
general meetings.

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall
consider the following factors:

(i)  the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

(i) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

(i) the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the

long-term growth aspect of the business;

(iv) the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

(v) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINAL DIVIDEND REARRE

The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividends for &Z e W M EZRNEHEE2 T - UE

the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). +ZA=+—HBIEEEZXERE(ZZ
TZF ) e

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF BE -BEHIHELXRAT LT

LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY &

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, #HZE_-_ET_-_ME+_HA=+—BItFE
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during KB Z A4 B H » KA &) sk & 4 5] i
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this B ﬂjﬁﬂﬁﬁ“%f CEOskHE RN BE
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China Financial Leasing Group Limited (the “Company”), with its
subsidiary (collectively the “Group”) is committed to maintaining
good corporate governance standards and procedures to ensure
the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure, thereby
enhancing shareholder value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the code provisions of The
Corporate Governance Code And Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
as its own code of corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The office of the chairman
of the Board is currently vacant as explain under the section
“CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR”.

Save as aforesaid and in the opinion of the directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company, the Company was in compliance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Group is an investment company listed on the Stock
Exchange under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rule. By recognising
the importance of stakeholders at the Board level and throughout
the Group, we strive to create values to the stakeholders through
sustainable growth and continuous development.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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The Board of the Company has set out the following values to
provide guidance on employees’ conduct and behaviours as well
as the business activities, and to ensure they are embedded
throughout the Company’s vision, mission, policies and business
strategies:

(i)  Integrity — we strive to do what is right;
(i) Excellence — we aim to deliver excellence;

(i) Collaboration — we are always better together;

(iv)  Empathy — we care about our stakeholders — employees,
supply chain and the community; and

(v)  Sustainability — we are committed to a sustainable future.

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its
business strategies and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be
taken to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to
foster the sustainability of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standards of dealings
regarding securities transactions by Directors as set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board (the “Board”) of Directors is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Company and oversees the
Group’s businesses, investment and strategic decisions and
performance. The Board delegated authority and responsibility
for day-to-day portfolio management of the Group to the
investment manager, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees.
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Further details of these committees are set out in this report. As
at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of six
Directors including two executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri
Mr. Chiu Tak Wai

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)
Mr. Hui Yat On

Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom

Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles

Ms. Liu Min

All Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but they are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board and has met the recommended practice
under the CG Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its
members comprising independent non-executive Directors. The
biographical information of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 58
to 60 of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group in respect of relevant actions against the Directors and
officers.

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The office of the chairman of the Board is currently vacant that
the roles and duties of which are assumed by the Board.
Executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of business. Therefore, a clear division of responsibilities is in
place and a balance of power and authority is ensured.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The four independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high caliber, with academic and professional qualifications, and
extensive experience in several fields including accounting,
financial, management, etc. With their extensive experience, they
provide strong support towards the effective discharge of the
duties and responsibilities of the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors have given their annual
confirmation of independence to the Company, and the
Company considered that they are independent under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a
specific term, but they are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles. None of the independent
non-executive Directors has served more than nine years during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board and such mechanisms
will be reviewed annually by the Board. On 18 December 2024,
the Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the following mechanisms at the Board meeting:

(@ Four out of the six Directors are INEDs, which exceeds the
requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-third of
the Board are independent non-executive directors.

(b)  Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by
the Listing Rules as to the composition of certain Board
committees, INEDs will be appointed to all Board
committees as far as possible to ensure independent views
are available.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new INED before
appointment and the continued independence of the
current long-serving INEDs on an annual basis.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as soon
as practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may materially affect his/her independence.

All INEDs are required to submit a written confirmation to
the Company annually to confirm the independence of each
of them and their immediate family members, and their
compliance with the requirements as set out in the Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors are entitled to seek further information and
documentation from the management on the matters to be
discussed at board meetings. They can also seek
assistance from the Company’s company secretary (the
“Company Secretary”) and, where necessary, independent
advice from external professional advisers at the
Company’s expense

All Directors are encouraged to express their views in an
open and candid manner during the Board/Board
Committees meetings.

A Director (including INED) who has material interest in any
contract, transaction or arrangement shall abstain from
voting and not be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to INEDs.
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BOARD MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has held 7
meetings. All Directors are given an opportunity to include any
matters in the agenda for all Board meetings and are given
sufficient time to review documents and information relating to
matters to be discussed during the Board meetings in advance.
For all regular Board meetings, the Board reviewed the operation
and financial performance, and reviewed and approved the
annual and interim results. And in order to ensure all Directors
could plan in advance their availability, a notice of at least 14
days is given for regular meeting. Details of the attendance of
each director is listed under the section “MEETINGS” in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled
to have access to Board papers and related materials and has
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, and has the right to seek external professional advice
if so required.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
covering the Group’s business operations, policies and
procedures and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director of a listed company by legal professional and
confirmation of newly appointed director’s understanding on
director’s obligations will be obtained. The Group also provides
briefings and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills. The Company continuously updates
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices, in compliance with the code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code. Circulars or guidance notes are issued to
Directors and senior management where appropriate, to ensure
awareness of best corporate governance practices.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, during the
period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

Name of Directors

REBEEFEKZCE R_F_MOF—
A—BEZZF-_mMF+ZA=+—HH
A ZEFC2ENE

Type of Trainings

BEEHR IR
Executive Directors HITEFE

Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri BEELE B
Mr. Chiu Tak Wai HEELE B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHHITEE

Mr. Hui Yat On F—RhE B
Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom PR A9 A 5T A B
Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles 2fEpE + B
Ms. Liu Min' Ik geg B

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relating to directors’
duties

B: reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy general
business and listing Rules, director duties etc.

1. Ms. Liu Min obtained director’s obligations by legal professional on 19
November 2024, and confirmed understanding on her obligations. She
was appointed on 28 November 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company has established the following committees to assist
the Company in the implementation of its functions:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 7 October 2002. The
Audit Committee currently consists of four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hui Yat On (chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom, Dr. Lau Kin Shing,
Charles and Ms. Liu Min.

The terms of reference adopted by the Audit Committee are
aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The
terms of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority,
duties and responsibilities are available on the respective
websites of the HKEX and the Company.
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The Audit Committee shall meet the external auditor to discuss
any area of concern during the audit or review. The Audit
Committee reviews the interim and annual reports before
submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses not only
on the impact of standards, but also on the Listing Rules and the
legal requirements in the review of the Group’s interim and
annual reports.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings and has
reviewed the Group’s unaudited interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, audited annual results for the year ended
31 December 2023 and audit planning of 2024 together with the
auditor of the Group. Details of the attendance of each director
is listed under the section “MEETINGS” in this Corporate
Governance Report. In the opinion of the Audit Committee, the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

Major work completed by the Audit Committee during the year
includes:

— reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim financial
information and annual financial statements;

—  reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

—  reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

- assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

— advised on material event or drawing the attention of the
management on related risks; and

—  reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of risk management, internal control and related
policies.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 December
2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules, and currently consists of four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Hui Yat On,
Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom and Ms. Liu Min.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors. Moreover, the committee will
ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of
corporate governance.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings.
Details of the attendance of each director is listed under the
section “MEETINGS” in this Corporate Governance Report.

The terms of reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the
respective websites of the HKEX and the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 28
June 2005 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules, and currently consists of four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Hui Yat On, Dr.
Lau Kin Shing, Charles and Ms. Liu Min. The Remuneration
Committee is mainly responsible for the determination of the
specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management (including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments), making recommendations to the
Board on the matters relating to the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings
to discuss remuneration-related matters, review of remuneration
packages of executive director and INEDs. No Directors was
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration at the meeting of
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the attendance of each
director is listed under the section “MEETINGS” in this Corporate
Governance Report.

The terms of reference setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the respective websites of the HKEX and the Company.

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD AND WORKFORCE
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age (eighteen years old or
above), cultural and educational background, qualification,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Company value gender diversity, and the Board has appointed a
director of a different gender on 28 November 2024 and the
Board will consider amending the Board diversity policy to
include appointment of at least a director of a different gender so
that the potential successors to the board can achieve gender
diversity.

The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the
Board diversity policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
diversity policy. On 18 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and considered that the said policies were
appropriate and effective. Further, it reviewed biographies of the
Directors, assessed the continued independence of each INED
and recommended Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom and Ms. Liu Min
(“Retiring Directors”) to the Board for considering their re-election
at the forthcoming AGM based on the Articles of Association of
the Company, Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy.
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The Nomination Committee believed that the Retiring Directors
will continue to contribute to the Board with their skills,
experience and knowledge. It also noted that none of the INED
of the Company is a long serving INED.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. The employee gender
ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 is 50:50. The Group
when hiring employees considers a number of factors, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and the Group will make
sure achieving gender diversity across the workforce.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditor; reviewing the interim and annual reports and
accounts of the Group; and overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures. During the year
under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
auditor, RSM Hong Kong, is set out below:

REZESHEREEFTHEBURSE
ZHRE  BRMABREESELER -
HIVEEE  SIEAX QBN ELIFRTT
ERBECRARGNBYIFATES

EEEERAEBZEANZ T (B
MR Zxil) R-ZZTE-_MWFE+ = A
=+—B AXEEBEEEMRLLH A
5050 c AEBEHEAEEREERZIA
Hx BEETERMER - Fi - Xt
RBEES B BhR HELR-
Hee A NIRGFE - BAREEFE
RIOEBEE TEBGERMRZ T -

REET
BERZBEET2AEMINERBEIZZ
T ERLReEBRANEFSRAEESR
Kot BEAE 51 HE A2 BRI 2 7 B KBS AE 16k
FoAREEZEZBEBERRRZ
ERMAE: BRAKE 2P I LFER
TURKE REBAKEZWHRSE
ALk AMEEREF - REEFE B
/A T 7R A R R SRAD 2 BR 2 & AT AD
SRz E}INIAT

Fee paid/payable

e ENEAR
Audit services ZE R 0/393
Non-audit services IEZ ER TS 165/0

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
Secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company commits to place shareholders’ interests as
top priority and protect their rights as provided in the Articles.
Shareholders can visit the Company’s website (www.cflg.com.hk)
to gain access to the Company’s up-to-date information. They
are entitled to be given due notice to attend all the general
meetings of the Company, vote all the resolutions (except for
those which shareholders may have conflict of interest and
are required to abstain from voting) and raise questions to the
management on the Group’s status and development plans.

Shareholders as duly registered holders of the ordinary shares of
the Company (“Members”) are also entitled to requisition to
convene an extraordinary general meeting in accordance with
the Articles. Details of the requirements and procedures are as
follows:

()  Any one or more Members holding not less than one tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company may send a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
to convene a general meeting;

(i) The requisition must be duly signed by the requisitionist,
specifying the requisitionist’s name, contact details and the
number of ordinary shares of the Company that the
requisitionist is holding and the matters proposed to be
discussed and transacted in the general meeting. The
requisition must be deposited at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 11/F., Wui Tat Centre,
55 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong;

(i) The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming
that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will
proceed with the necessary procedures including the
convening of a general meeting; and

(ivy  The general meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of the requisition.
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If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
general meeting, the requisitionist himself may convene a general
meeting in the same manner.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
shareholders so that they can exercise their rights in an informed
manner. Information about the Company is disseminated to the
shareholders through:

()  delivery of interim and annual results and reports to all
shareholders;

(i) publication of announcements on interim and annual results
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange,
and issuance of other announcements and shareholders’
circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules; and

(i) the general meeting of the Company is an effective
communication channel between the Board and
shareholders. As such, the Board members attended the
2024 annual general meeting and other extraordinary
general meetings during the year to provide shareholders
with opportunities to understand the latest development of
the Group and raise questions.

Pursuant to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules and the articles of
association of the Company, the Company will disseminate the
future corporate communications of the Company to its
Shareholders electronically and only send corporate
communications in printed form to the Shareholders upon
request. In this connection, the following arrangements had
already come into effect on 31 December 2023.
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ARRANGEMENTS

1.

Actionable Corporate Communications

The Company will send the Actionable Corporate
Communications to Shareholders individually in electronic
form by email. If the Company does not possess the email
address of a Shareholder or the email address provided is
not functional, the Company will send the Actionable
Corporate Communication in printed form together with a
request form for soliciting the Shareholder’s functional email
address to facilitate electronic dissemination of Actionable
Corporate Communications in the future.

Corporate Communications

The Company will make the Corporate Communications
available on its website (www.cflg.com.hk) and the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).

A notice of publication of the Website Version of Corporate
Communications, in both English and Chinese, will be sent
by the Company to Shareholders by email or by post (only
if the Company does not possess the functional email
address of a Shareholder) on the publication date of the
Corporate Communications.

The 2024 annual general meeting was held on 12 April 2024.
Details of the attendance of each director is listed under the
section “MEETINGS” in this Corporate Governance Report.
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MEETINGS
The Board meets on a regular and on an ad hoc basis, as
required by business needs. The attendance of each Director at
the Board meetings, committee meetings and general meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the
following table:

23

EEeTHRREBAE TREBITEH -
REENEE_S-_WE+=-_RA=+—
HEFEHFEES SR ZE29H
MEERAEHNBERENTEK

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee committee committee General
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
ENZEE  HMWZRe  REZEe
Ezees EE EE EE REAE
Name of Directors Attendance/Number of meetings
Espg HERE/SERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri aEELE i NATER N/ATER N/ATER 2/2
Mr. Chiu Tak Wai BEEEE 717 N/ATE N/AZRiE A N/ARE A 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors B/ #/7EE
Mr. Hui Yat On Fi s n 3/3 212 212 212
Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom R L E n 3/3 212 212 212
Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles fRREL n 3/3 2/2 212 2/2
Ms. Liu Min' et 1/1 1/1 17 17 N/AT
1. Ms. Liu Min obtained director’s obligations by legal professional on 19 1. Mg LZtTtR —_E-_WE+—HF+HNBEHB

November 2024, and confirmed understanding on her obligations. She
was appointed on 28 November 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group’s accounts for each financial period and to ensure that
the financial statements are in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Board
also ensures the timely publication of the consolidated financial
statements. The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries,
confirm that they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(i) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually.

As a part of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, appropriate policies and controls have been designed
and established by the Group to ensure that assets are
safeguarded against improper use or disposal, relevant rules and
regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial
and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed.
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The Board had performed annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
including but not limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its
business transformation and changing external environment; the
scope and quality of management’s review on risk management
and internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the
extent and frequency of communication with the Board in relation
to result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status
of compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems in place
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
Annual Report are effective and adequate.

However, the risk management and internal control systems can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach
to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks. The operating
units of the Group, as a first line of defence, identify, evaluate,
mitigate and monitor the risks, and report such risk management
activities to the Group’s management on a regularly basis. The
Group’s management, as the second line of defence, provides
support to the operating units and ensure that the significant
risks are properly managed and within the acceptable range and
report the situation to the Board at each regularly scheduled
meeting. The Board, as the final line of defence, conducts an
annual review of the overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided
that the Board would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensuring compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations. The situation will be
reviewed from time to time.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and discussed the risk
management and internal control systems and no material
internal control failings, weaknesses or deficiencies have been
identified during the course of the review.

Based on the above, the Board were not aware of any areas of
concern that would have a material impact on the Group’s
financial position or results of operations and considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be generally
effective and adequate including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Group has formulated its guidelines, with an aim
to ensure that the insiders abide by the confidentiality
requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of the inside
information.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted a Whistleblowing Policy on 18 December 2024. It
provides employees and the relevant third parties who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) with
guidance and reporting channels on reporting any suspected
improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the designated person.
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An email account (internalaudit@cflg.com.hk) has been set up for
this purpose. All reported matters will be investigated
independently and, in the meantime, all information received from
a whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential.

The Board and the Audit Committee will regularly review the
Whistleblowing Policy and mechanism to improve its
effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

In compliance with the new code provision D.2.7 of the CG
Code, the Board adopted an Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption
Policy on 18 December 2024. It outlines guidelines and the
minimum standards of conducts, all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the
responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group
defend against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably
suspected case of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof,
to the management or through an appropriate reporting channel.
The Group would not tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption
among all employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary
capacity on behalf of the Group, and in its business dealing with
third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Fraud
and Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to
the prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all
forms of fraud and corruption.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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China Financial Leasing Group Limited (the “Company”), with its
subsidiary (collectively the “Group”) is pleased to demonstrate its
commitment to sustainable development. The Group prepared
the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the
“ESG Report”) and aims to disclose the overall policies, practice,
commitments and strategies on the sustainable development of
the Group during the reporting period which covers the period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (“Reporting Period”).

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has prepared the ESG Report in accordance to the
following reporting principles stated in the ESG Reporting Guide.

- Materiality: The Group communicates with our major
stakeholder groups on a regular basis to identify and
assess ESG-related issues that matter most from
stakeholders’ perspectives. Key ESG issues identified
through stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment.

—  Quantitative: Quantitative information/KPI presented in this
ESG Report is accompanied by narrative, explanation and
comparison wherever applicable.

- Balance: The ESG Report aims to disclose data in an
objective way, which aims to provide stakeholders with a
balance overview of the Group’s overall ESG performance.

—  Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopts
consistent methodologies and retrieves social and
environmental KPIs from the Group’s internal record
system. The scope of reporting and KPIs are consistent
with those of the previous report to allow meaningful
comparison over time.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group understands that sustainability is particularly
important to the long-term development of the Group, the
society as well as our next generation. The Group is committed
to create a business that contributes to global efforts in
environmental care and will introduce various environmental
protection and social welfare activities in order to foster the
sustainability development of the society.

BOARD STATEMENT ON ESG GOVERNANCE
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is
committed to incorporating the ESG mindset into business
operations. The Board accepts full responsibility for the
sustainability of the Group, including formulating strategies,
overseeing the Group’s ESG related risks and opportunities, and
approving the ESG Report. The Board is also required to keep
abreast of and comply with the latest regulatory requirements
before the approval of the ESG Report.

The Board believes that the management of ESG-related risks
and opportunities is essential to the Group’s efficient and
effective operation. The risk management and internal control
systems assure accuracy, reliability and the timeliness of the data
presented and sustainable development measures. The Board
will also regularly review the implementation effectiveness of the
systems and whether they cover major control measures on
material ESG issues.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

This ESG Report focuses on the environmental and social
performance of the Group’s operation in Hong Kong.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group endeavours to create sustainable growth and
long-term value for its stakeholders, who comprise the Group’s
employees, investors and the wider community. The Group
continues to interact with its stakeholders on an ongoing basis in
order to understand their views and collect their feedback. The
Group has also established effective communication channels
with its stakeholders through its company website, annual
general meeting and staff meetings. The opinions of stakeholders
are vastly beneficial to formulating and implementing sustainable
development strategies which enables the Group to improve its
ESG performance. If you have any opinions or suggestions,
please do not hesitate to contact us by mail to 11/F., Wai Tat
Centre, 55 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are
important to the business of the Group. During the Report
Period, the Company undertook its annual materiality
assessment exercise. The objective of materiality assessment is
to identify ESG topics that are material and relevant to the
Group’s operation. This involved conducting interviews and/or
surveys with internal and external stakeholders to identify the
most significant environmental and social impacts on its
business. To identify potential material topics for disclosure in the
ESG Report, we took reference to the ESG Reporting and set
possible topics for assessment. According to the results of the
materiality assessment, the items below demonstrated the ESG
topics with high materiality to the Group, including:

Employee welfare

° Inclusion and equal opportunities

° Talent attraction and retention

e QOccupational health and safety

° Preventing child and forced labour
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Supply chain management
o Economic value generated
e  Corporate governance

° Anti-corruption

o Community investment

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner through its office management and daily
operation. The Group adheres to the principle of recycling and
reducing, and implement green office practices to minimise the
impact of businesses on the environment.

Below practices are being implemented by the Group for energy
saving measure:

()  double-sided printing and copying, promoting using
recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance;

(i) maintain the temperature at 25.5°C, an optimal temperature
for comfort and energy savings;

@iy  staff is recommended to switch off the lights and air
conditioning in the meeting room when it is not in use;

(iv) widespread adoption of multi-function photocopiers (with
printing, scanning and fax functions); and

(v) promote paperless environment by encouraging the use of
soft and electronic copy for the document instead of hard

copy.

Being an investment company, the Group is also aware of the
investment decisions and its potential impact to the environment.
Should the opportunity arise, the Group would consider the risk
of the projects and return dynamics as well as the positive
environmental effects it will have.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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Emission

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
protecting natural resources and the global environment. Our
commitment to emission reduction, energy and resources
conservation encompasses every aspect of the Group’s
operation, and the Group has complied with laws and regulation
related to environmental protection. In light of the Group’s
business nature, the operation of the Group does not generate
air, water or land pollutions or raise any significant environmental
issues.

Electricity consumed by the Group in principle place of business
is supplied by The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited. The
electricity consumption by the Group was approximately 8,600
kWh. The Group keeps the consumption of electricity at a
minimum level and the Group believes that the Group consumes
energy efficiently.

Since the Group’s business does not involve manufacturing
activities, solid waste is mainly generated in daily office
operations without generation of hazardous waste. The Group
encourages employees to go paperless as much as possible by
limiting print outs as well as communicating via e-mail as
opposed to fax. Employees are also encouraged to reuse paper
and conserve paper usage by printing doublesided to the extent
practicable. During the year, the Group used a total of
approximately 112,000 pieces of paper in its normal business
operations of which approximately 87,000 pieces of paper were
attributable to the printing of the financial statements and
materials related to general meetings distributed to shareholders
of the Company.

Climate Change

Global warming has been one of the utmost concerned issues in
recent years, which might indue extreme weather conditions
such as storms, flooding and earthquakes, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group has not been seriously
affected by the extreme weather conditions as the Group
adopted various emergency plans to prevent the disruption of
the operation such as working arrangement in black rainstorm
warning and/or typhoon signal 8 situation.
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Even though the Group expected that potential extreme weather
condition, sustained high temperature do not have a material
impact on the Group’s operations, the Group will continue to
monitor the climate-related risks and implement relevant
measures to minimize the potential impact of climate change.

Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Use of Resources

The Group has undertaken various resources saving measures
to demonstrate the efforts in efficient use of resources in the
daily operations. Employees are encouraged to optimize
resources to help the Group to minimise the impact on the
environment and natural resources e.g. use of public
transportation. Although non-significant amounts of water is
consumed through the business activities, the Group also
encourages water saving by driving water-saving habits and
posting green messages in the workplace to remind the
employees to use water effectively.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

Since the Groups core operations are confined to the office
environment, the impact of the Group on the environment and
natural resources is not significant. It is mainly attributed to the
use of electricity, water and papers in the office. During the year,
the Group set a number of measures to reduce the use of
resources (refers to above sections “Environmental Protection”
and “Emission” for details). In order to have further reductions on
the environmental impact and use of natural resources, the
Group will continue to make assessment and minimise the
environmental impact.
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Employment

The success of our business has been, and will continue to be,
heavily dependent upon the continuing service of our employees.
The Group provides competitive remuneration, implements a
sound performance appraisal, advocates ethics and human
rights at the workplace.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has 2 (2023: 2) employees
in offices located in Hong Kong. The Group strictly complies with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Employee’s
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282), the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485) and the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608) in Hong Kong:

1. The Group prohibits the employment of child, forced or
compulsory labour in any of our operations;

2. Wages, overtime payments and related benefits are made
in accordance with minimum wage or above (if any);

3. Holidays and statutory paid leaves are compliant respective
Labour Law or Regulations; and

4. The Group is also dedicated to implementing equal
opportunity employment practices by maintaining a diverse
workforce that includes age, gender, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnicity and religion, which are in
compliance with the requirements of the legislation on
anti-discrimination in Hong Kong, including Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 487), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
527) and Race Discrimination. Ordinance (Cap. 602).
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

non-compliance or notification from governmental authorities for ZAREBE I EZRIF N - MEW D BT S
contravention of any of the employment practices referred to B3 E B EE K it EREBIETH
above. A

BIER - Fiw  BREZKOEE HH

The employee compositions by gender, age, employment type

and geographical region were as follows:

Employee Structure

BEAKIT :

Number of
employees as at
31 December 2024

Percentage of
employees as at
31 December 2024

R-B-mE R-B-mE
+=ZBA=+—H +=ZBA=+—H
BEEB NES A WiEE LB
Total number of employees 2 100.0%
EEAH
By gender Male 1 50.0%
=% 5l S
Female 1 50.0%
gegid
By age Aged 31-40 1 50.0%
RER 312405,
Aged 51-60 1 50.0%
51Z605%
By employment type General Staff 1 50.0%
RERER —RET
Senior Management 1 50.0%
SREEABR
By geographical region Hong Kong 2 100.0%
BihE 0

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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The following table sets for the turnover rates of the Group’s
employees for the Reporting Period:

TREFNBEHRAEEREE ZRK
b

Number of
employees
Summary of Employee Data resigned in 2024 Turnover rates
“ENEER
EEHEBHE WIEEBAH WK =E
By gender Male 0 0
=1 Bl B
Female 0 0
g
By age Aged 31-40 0 0
RER 31Z405%
By geographical region Hong Kong 0 0
it &= BB
Development and Training BEREEI

The Group believes two-way communication is crucial to
employee engagement that drives job satisfaction and high
productivity. The Group has provided a platform for quality
communication between employees and management.
Promotion is executed on a fair and open basis and any form of
discrimination is not tolerated. Competent employees will be
considered for internal promotion in recognition of their efforts
and contribution when there is a job vacancy.

The Group ample resources to staff training and development
with the aim of sustaining a competent and professional staff
force that will contribute to the success of the Group. In 2024,
training sessions were provided to our employees on different
aspects such as technology, internal system, safety and staff
induction.

In additions, a number of staff activities were organised to show
appreciation to employees for their contribution and to enhance
their sense of belonging.
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Statistics in respect of development and training for the Report $REEAN A R LIS Gt T ¢
Period is set out below:

Summary of Employee Data Units 2024
ETHEME By —E-mE

Average training hours per employees by gender
=R & D BB ALE B &) T 5 5 K

Male hours/employee 15
S N EE
Female hours/employee 12
gegid N BB

Average training hours per employees by employee category
RIERBEL S DN EIES & T K

General Staff hours/employee 12
—mRET ANy 3=
Senior Management hours/employee 15
=REERAR N RE

Percentage of employees trained by gender
=R S D BB ZEF A E & LA

Male 100%
2]
Female 100%
peg i

Percentage of employees trained by employee category
ZERFRERISHE BV ES LA

General Staff 100%
—fRETL

Senior Management 100%
SREEAB
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is subject to the health and safety requirements of
Hong Kong including, but not limited to, the Occupational Health
and Safety Ordinance. The Board believes that it is in compliance
with such requirements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The Group’s liability to the employees is covered by insurance,
which are required by law to take out. The Board further
confirmed that there was no material violation of currently
applicable safety regulations nor were there any material
employee safety issues involving the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, no fines or penalties for
non-compliance of safety laws and regulations were imposed on
the Group.

The Company does not aware of any work-related fatalities
occurred in the past three years including the Reporting Period
and there are zero lost days due to work injury.

Labour Standards

The Group’s employment policies regarding prohibiting child and
forced labour are implemented to ensure the adherence of the
local employment laws and regulations. Before the confirmation
of employment, the Group will require job applicants to provide
valid identity documents to verify that the applicants are lawfully
employable and ensure full compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that prohibit child and forced labour. The Group will
regularly review the employees’ information to ensure there is no
violation of any regulations and policies.

The Group has zero-tolerance in the use of forced labour or child
labour in its business operations. The Group enters into an
employment contract with each of its employees in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. If the use of forced labour
or child labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the
employment contract and investigate if further action is needed.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance, Employment of Children Regulations
and other applicable laws and regulations relating to preventing
child or forced labour on the Group in the Report Period. No
non-compliance with the law that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported in the Report Period.
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During the year, the Group had no non-compliance case
regarding violation of relevant child labour and forced labour
laws.

Lawful Governance

The Group has complied with the applicable employment related
laws and regulations currently in force in Hong Kong (including
but not limited to those relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity diversity, anti-discrimination, other benefits and
welfare), as well as the Group does not employ staffs who are
below 18 years of age. The Group provides such rights and
benefits to the employees which are no less than those required
statutorily. No employees are paid less than the minimum wage
specified by the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Monthly salary payments are made on time
according to respective employment contracts.

Supply Chain Management and Product Responsibility

The Company is an investment company. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group mainly engages in investments in
listed and unlisted securities. It does not have any major supplier
of products, raw materials or services.

Anti-corruption

With integrity being a core part of the Group’s business ethics,
the Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations
regarding bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, such
as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the laws
of Hong Kong). To maintain high standards of corporate
governance, the Group fulfills the commitment through abiding
by anti-corruption policies and guidelines, such as acceptance of
gifts and conflicts of interest. To live up to the anti-corruption
commitment, whistleblowing policy is also formulated by the
Group. The employees of the Group are encouraged to report
any suspected misconduct and violation of rules. Investigation
work for whistleblowing reports is handled with strict
confidentiality under all circumstances to preserve anonymity.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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Any employee or third party who wish to report a concern thru
our whistleblowing system should inform the Group’s internal
audit team or the audit committee by sending the Whistleblowing
Report Form with supplementary information, if any, by way of
E-mail or mail. For details, please refer to section
“WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY” in the Corporate Governance
Report.

To prevent corruption in the Group, the Group delivers the
anti-corruption policy of the Group to our staff when they are
employed. On-going training are given to our staff and directors
annually in respect of anti-corruption.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not
been charged for any corruption within the Board, its senior
management and its staff, as well as its subsidiary and their
employees, during their employment.

The Group, together with the current Board, gives the utmost
priority to regulatory compliance. The Board advocates a high
level of independence so as to make independent judgements.
Therefore, the Company has appointed four independent
non-executive Directors. In selecting the Board members, the
Company already considered the experience, knowledge and
background of all four independent non-executive Directors that
can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the Group.

Community Involvement

The Group always endeavours to serve the community and
therefore highly respects its corporate social responsibilities. For
the sake of social betterment, the Group will identify charitable,
non-profit or educational institutions and foundations that share
its beliefs.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang, Henri (“Mr. Lui”), age 51, was appointed
as executive Director of the Company on 9 April 2021. Mr. Lui
obtained his Bachelor of Commerce degree from University of
Toronto in 1995. Mr. Lui is also a charter holder of Chartered
Financial Analyst since 2001. Mr. Lui has over 28 years of
experiences in the securities and financial industry, serving
various roles as financial analyst, responsible officer in brokerage
house and asset management firms.

Mr. Chiu Tak Wai (“Mr. Chiu”), age 55, was appointed as
executive Director of the Company on 11 September 2023.
Mr. Chiu is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
He obtained his Bachelor of Social Sciences from University of
Hong Kong in 1993. Mr. Chiu is also a charter holder of
Chartered Financial Analyst since 2001. Mr. Chiu has over 30
years of experiences in the securities and financial industry,
serving various roles as dealer, responsible officer in brokerage
house and asset management firms.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Hui Yat On (“Mr. Hui”), aged 65, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 10 June
2021. Mr. Hui graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in business administration in
December 1982. In November 2004, Mr. Hui obtained a
master’s degree in professional accounting from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Hui has become a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
December 1986. Mr. Hui is a member of the Hong Kong Chiu
Chow Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Hui is currently the
independent non-executive director of ArtGo Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 3313) since 8 June 2016 and was the independent
non-executive director of Enterprise Development Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1808) from 11 January 2021 to 20
September 2021, respectively. Mr. Hui is currently a senior
executive of a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. He has previously served as the executive director
and senior executive of several Hong Kong listed companies.
Mr. Hui has three decades of experiences in the field of
corporate finance and financial services. Mr. Hui is also the
founding member of the Hong Kong Association of Financial
Advisors Limited and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified ESG
Strategists.
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Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom (“Mr. Chan”), aged 62, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 30 June 2022. He graduated from The University of
Keele in England with major in Economics and Laws, being
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong. With over 31 years of
experience at the top management level of various institutions
and listed companies, Mr. Chan has rich experience in the
brokerage and trading of different financial products including
project financing, corporate mergers and acquisitions, initial
public offering, trading of securities, foreign exchange, precious
metals etc. Mr. Chan is currently the Deputy Chairman of
Success Universe Group. Mr. Chan is currently the independent
non-executive director of Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2066) since 22 February 2024. He also devotes himself to the
society, being a member of the 10th—-12th Political Consultative
Conference of Jilin Province in China, Economic advisor to Jilin
Provincial Government, Chairman of The Institute of Securities
Dealers in Hong Kong between 2019 and 2022 and one of the
founders of China Bay Area Think Tank Co., Ltd.

Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles (“Dr. Lau”), aged 69, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 11 September 2023. A professional accountant by
training, holds a Doctorate degree in Business Administration
from the Newcastle University of Australia, Master degree in
Information System Management from the National University of
Ireland, and a Bachelor degree in Accounting from the Curtin
University of Technology, Australia. Dr. Lau is a Chartered
Accountant (New Zealand), and also a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of CPA Australia.
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Dr. Lau possesses about 30-year executive experiences in
corporate control, financial management, risk management and
internal control gained from international listed companies. He
had held key corporate executive position in various
conglomerates, including vice president of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise Limited), deputy head of internal audit for
Hutchison Whampoa Limited, and chief financial officer and
company secretary of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company
Limited. Dr. Lau was also the chief financial officer of the Group,
company secretary and authorised representative of Sitoy Group
Holdings Ltd.

Dr. Lau has been the independent non-executive director of KOS
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8042) since 1
February 2021, a company whose shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), Zibuyu Group Ltd (stock code: 2420) since 13
October 2022, a company whose shares are listed on main
board of Stock Exchange. He is also an independent director of
Lingyi ltech (Guangdong) Company Limited (stock code:
002600.S2), since June 2021, a company whose shares are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was also a
non-executive director of Sitoy Group Holdings Ltd (stock code:
1023) from 1 August 2021, to 18 November 2024, a company
whose shares are listed on main board of Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu Min (“Ms. Liu”), age 48, was appointed as independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 28 November 2024.
She was awarded her MBA degree (2004) in Wuhan University,
China. She completed the CICPA exam in 2000 and is a
member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom (“ACCA”), as well
as a Fellow of the Chartered Management Accountants (FCMA)
and the Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA). She
has over 20 years of experience in the field of corporate financial
accounting, as well as internal control and risk management, and
corporate governance practices and systems. She also has
previous experiences as financial manager and controller of
various listed companies such as Trinity Limited and Sitoy Group
Holdings Limited (1023.HK). She is currently CFO, China Region
of CN Logistics (2130.HK).

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

ST HECEEE VKERE ARE
BERABEETARBEN=TFNTK
EELR RENZHEHALARELE
EERITHBG  SREFERE (2KR)
BERAR (AIHEEAEERAR) & HE
KR M EHERA R A EZE R
BB UREBEEELEARAAE
FMBRERARWE - BB LG E
ERREEZERER AR BEMEAE -
NEME R EERE -

At T -_—F_A—HEEZT
RERTEEREERAR AR (RO -
8042) MBI IENITES  Z A AINK
MRBEBBMEXZABRAT ([HRFT])
GEMEm -mB _-_ZEZ-_—_F+HA+=H
REZARTIBEEERAR (KRHK
S 2420) RE T IEHITESE - Z A AIHY
B EBIAMERLET - BB ZZ
T—FRNAR EERRERSERD
ERAFAMNBIEE (BEHFARE
002600.SZ) - #Z R al W& R Y& %
REMEM - BTIR_TE=_—FNA—
BE-—Z-_MF&F+—A+\BEEER
SEERARAR (RHARIE - 1023) &Y
FHRITES  ZRINBROEBE
R ETT e

Mzt (MLl 485 ERNF
—HOFE+—AZ TN \BEZERBAEAQF
BURTES BEBRERETIH
BRI 1-(2004) © 1% 720004 i@ i@+ Bl 5
2MEMER BRRP M
TR EEE FANARBEENTARE
A EEARSE  FHERESHMAA
L FEEFCMA)  2HEBHFEE ST
BM(CGMA) - Ml Z L EE& 51T B B20
FoHLEVBER - AEZES - Rk
ERNARIABERESIEEREZLR -
Mzt EBHETRET ARV ELRER
BTG4 Es - Pl A F iR - R EEE
B%(1028.HK) * 1% B A1 & 3= 5. ¥ 7 (2130.
HK) A B [& B 75 48 85 o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERGHREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is pleased
to submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of China Financial Leasing Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in short to medium term capital
appreciation by investing in a diversified portfolio of investments
in listed and unlisted securities. Details of the principal activities
of the subsidiary are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on pages 5 to 25 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 73.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year.

TOTAL NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES

Details of the movements in the total number of issued shares of
the Company during the year are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 138 of
this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s share premium
account in the amount of approximately HK$349,390,000 may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. As at 31
December 2024, the Company had capital reduction reserve of
approximately HK$19,444,000 and accumulated losses of
approximately HK$305,071,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri
Mr. Chiu Tak Wai

Independent non-Executive Directors
Mr. Hui Yat On

Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom

Dr. Lau Kin Shing, Charles

Ms. Liu Min'

1. Ms. Liu Min obtained director’s obligations by legal professional on 19
November 2024, and confirmed understanding on her obligations. She
was appointed on 28 November 2024.
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Pursuant to article 88(1) of the Articles, Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself for
re-election at the 2025 Annual General Meeting (“2025 AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 87(3) of the Articles, Ms. Liu Min will be
subject to re-election and, being eligible, offers herself for
re-election at the 2025 AGM.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiary was a party and in which a Director of the Company
and the Director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares (as defined in the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2024, according to the information publicly
disclosed, persons who had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, are

set out below:
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Name of shareholders Type of interests Position shares held shares
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Mr. Lam Shu Chung (“Mr. Lam”) Beneficial owner Long 95,706,441 27.59%
MR A ([MRFEAE D) ExEAA e

Ms. Choi Hing Lin Lori Interest of spouse Long 95,706,441 27.59%

(“Ms. Choi”) (Note 1)

ZEELL ([t (MHF1) RE#ER HE

Like Capital Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long 25,556,574 7.37%
BEEAFRAGF (H5E2) ExmEAA Ha

Ethnocentric Investment Limited Interest in a controlled  Long 25,556,574 7.37%

(Note 2) (Hf5¥2) corporation

EEH AR S S

Capital VC Limited (Note 2) Interest in a controlled  Long 25,556,574 7.37%

corporation
BHAIRBR AR (H5E2) REH A RS S
Note: MizE -

1. Ms. Choi is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Accordingly, Ms. Choi is deemed or
taken to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Lam is interested in for

the purpose of the SFO.

2. Like Capital Limited is a private company directly wholly owned by
Ethnocentric Investment Limited. Ethnocentric Investment Limited is a
private company directly wholly owned by Capital VC Limited, which is a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2324).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company has paid HK$167,000 as
investment management fee to Avia Asset Management Limited
for the periods from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024, the
investment manager of the Company for the provision of
investment management services to the Company. The above
transaction constitutes a de minimis continuing connected
transaction which is exempted from reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Rule 14A.76 (1) of the Listing Rules.

During the year, Supreme China Securities Limited, Interactive
Brokers Hong Kong Limited, Bright Smart Securities International
(H.K.) Limited, Bradbury Securities Limited, | Win Securities
Limited and Tiger Brokers (HK) Global Limited, the custodians
(collectively the “Custodians”) of the Company provided custody
services in relation to the securities and cash which the
Company may from time to time deposit with the Custodians.
The fees payable by the Company to the Custodians for the
services constitutes de minimis continuing connected transaction
which is exempted from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule
14A.76 (1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this
annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in accordance with the
requirements of the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Hui Yat
On (as the chairman), Mr. Chan Pak Lam, Tom, Dr. Lau Kin
Shing, Charles and Ms. Liu Min.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by RSM Hong Kong.

RSM Hong Kong will retire and, being eligible, offers itself for
re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the 2025 AGM
for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Lui Cheuk Hang Henri

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

3 37 % B e A

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

T+8522598 5123
F+85225987230

www.rsmhk.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA FINANCIAL LEASING GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Financial Leasing Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 73 to 137, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

RSM Hong Kong

RSM

EREERMEHR
HEIWBERTE_+)\5
NEZH - +h=E

&E&E +8522598 5123
HH +852 25987230

www.rsmhk.com

BTEEsREEREAERAF
2ERR
(RFEEBEEMKLZBRATF)

=R

KB R VNEHNE7T3EEF137TEMNH
EeREESEEFRARG(EAF]) &
HWB AR (ABIEEE]) NEEWHK
HR BERZE-_NFEF+-_A=+—
HOGEHERAKRAEEZALTFE
FOF = &ﬁmiﬁw S5k ERERE
DEHRANGEARERERRGEAVH
HERMT(BREBASHHEER) o

BPRE ASHEAVERRERESR
EgTti A g (BT Ag]) B
WEBMGHREER (BB BREE
ANDEEMAFHRE EXEER_F
—HE+ZA=+—BNEEHBARR
MEHZEZBIEFENGEEPBRER
EmpelReng YEBRATEHNA
BEREZLREE -

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR

6/



68

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined that there are no key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

3 37 % B e A

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matter. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Tak Man, Stephen.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

28 February 2025

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

BRBE M BFT RS M BRREA
AFEWEE ()

HHELZZESBENFAD  HME
EHARESEMBRENBAR/E
Z - RAMmMEKERESEHE HMAEX
R RETHRAZFEE  RIPEAENK
ERTAFAABRBEZEFEE  LEGE
mEANBRAT  HEEBERERSF
ABREREKNNBEERRBEEEW
DNEME - A FIRETEERSETE
BEBEE-

HEABYZHMBENEARBEARA
REBX L -

BERXE A BB
BIE B AT

—“E-RF-_A-+)N\H



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A TR A S AL fib 4 i WAL A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-WE —T_=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTHExT FHET
Revenue ' ON 8 1,150 758
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at ~ BiBIEZIE A FETE
fair value through profit or loss M BEERZ
(EBR) #8 885 (4,951)
Other income H AU A 9 6 22
2,041 (4,171)
Administrative expenses FTEFAX (4,052) (3,781)
Loss from operations KEEE (2,011) (7,952)
Finance costs RN 10 (24) (19)
Loss before tax MRBIAIE B (2,035) (7,967)
Income tax expense ISR 11 - -
Loss for the year attributable to A QA REEABEEE
owners of the Company 518 12 (2,035) (7,967)
Other comprehensive income for FEHt2mEKE -
the year, net of tax HERBIE = -
Total comprehensive income for ZAQFEEABEEE
the year attributable to owners 2HEKELE
of the Company (2,035) (7,967)
Loss per share BRER 16
Basic (HK cents per share) BEAR(FRBW) (0.62) (4.40)
Diluted (HK cents per share) s (BB N/A RiE A N/A 738

H e < R AE B AR AR A

SR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

w5 BB IR DL 3%
At 31 December 2024
RZZE_WME+—_A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
bz FH&x FETT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 17 - -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 - -
Refundable rental deposit AREHEERS 21 60 60
60 60
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value through B iBiEHIE A FEE
profit or loss ZHBEE 20 74,940 58,951
Deposits and prepayments e RIER A 21 26 446
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEERE 3,374 1,179
78,340 60,576
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals EETE A 393 373
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 272 93
665 466
Net current assets REEEFE 77,675 60,110
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERARBERE 77,735 60,170
Non-current liabilities FREBEME
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 96 _
NET ASSETS BEEZFE 77,639 60,170

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5 BB IR DL 3R
At 31 December 2024
WZZE_WE+—_A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
bz FHET FAT
Capital and reserves attributable AR FEE AEEER
to owners of the Company Ri#E
Share capital &N 23 13,876 6,938
Reserves f#H 25 63,763 53,232
TOTAL EQUITY ERER 77,639 60,170
Net asset value per share BREEFE
(HK cents per share) (Bl BR) 26 23.48 33.23

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Lui Cheuk Hang Henri
BE1E
Executive Director

HITEF

R-_E-_RAF-_A-_F+NHEESSH
ERRUNTESEAREE

Chiu Tak Wai

HEE

Executive Director

HITEF

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

22 /N 32 &4
R R AR A W) R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

Capital
Share Share reduction Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total equity
k& ROEE  BRHAEE g ER s
(Note 23) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(b(i)
(Wskos) (W&o (HEos()i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AL TR AR T
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—-H—-H 6,938 336,824 19,444 (295,069) 68,137
Total comprehensive income ~ ERZAMALE

for the year - - - (7,967) (7,967)
Changes of equity for the year  FRERE - - - (7,967) (7,967)
At31December2028and  RZZZ=F+-A=+—-AR

1 January 2024 “E-ME-A-H 6,938 336,824 19,444 (303,036 60,170
Issue of shares on Rights fERERTIRD (M23)

Issue (Note 23) 6,938 13,876 - - 20,814
Share issue expenses R ETER - (1,310) - - (1310)
Total comprehensive income A2 EARALHE

for the year - - - (2,039) (2,039)
Changes of equity for the year  FREZE 6,938 12,566 - (2,035) 17,469
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+-H 13,876 349,390 19,444 (305,071) 77,639

China Financial Leasing Group Limited

Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

22 N Nl =R
GOaBHEeRER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& ZERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B i B 5 18 (2,035) (7,967)
Adjustments for: MATIEBEL AR -
Depreciation of property, plantand %1% - BE LR EZITE
equipment 4 3
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECITE 179 -
Finance costs A& A AN 24 15
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets BRBREAFENEZHE
at fair value through profit or loss BE (W) /BB (885) 4,951
Impairment loss on: T2 R EEE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - WFEREE 23 14
— Right-of-use assets — EAEEE 359 -
Operating loss before working capital =& & & Z B A& & E18
changes (2,331) (2,984)
Purchases of financial assets at fair ﬁ% EABEREATE
value through profit or loss BB EE (203,153) (117,677)
Proceeds from disposals of ﬁ Lﬂﬁ R/ NS |
financial assets at fair value =i H7f BEEZ
through profit or loss ﬁﬁ/E' K 188,049 99,688
Deposits and prepayments TES‘E&?EHH/T)\ (1) -
Accruals FEEtER 20 (60)
Cash used in operations KEFTRARE (17,416) (21,033)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEHNE (24) (19)
Net cash used in operating activites &£ & /E B TR & /558 (17,440) (21,048)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ®REZHHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  BEEEE
equipment (27) (7)
Net cash used in investing activites ~ & EENFTAE & /F8 (27) (17)
A A R A

SR AR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

22 I\ v2 B
GEaBHEeRER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&TT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @B EZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares on HAR BT IR D 2 FTIS FB
Rights Issue 20,814 -
Share issue expenses paid BB HEITHRE (889) (421)
Principal elements of lease payments & A& H (263) (268)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEZEBE (AR FHE
financing activities 19,662 (689)
NET CHANGES IN CASH AND BeERESESEEREE
CASH EQUIVALENTS B 2,195 (21,754)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RA—A—BzRERES
AT 1 JANUARY £@EHEE 1,179 22,933
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W+t =-A=+—HzZzHR&EkHR:E
AT 31 DECEMBER Z£EEHR 3,374 1,179
ANALYSIS OF CASHAND CASH H&EeRRESZEEB I
EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFEIRE 2,026 548
Deposits with other financial RH th & RIS 2 775K
institutions 1,348 631
3,374 1,179

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 Y5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Financial Leasing Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is 11/F., Wui Tat
Centre, 55 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in short to medium
term capital appreciation by investing in a diversified
portfolio of investments on a general perspective. The
principal activities of its subsidiary is set out in Note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not have any material financial impact on the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED

HKFRSs
(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretation issued by the HKICPA for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(“HK Int 5”) (Revised) Statements -
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments and interpretation
listed above did not have any material impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 5 e 3 B G
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BAFEI RZIETEBY

HKFRSs (Continued)

a2 A ()

(b) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new
standards and amendments to standards and
interpretation, which are not effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. The Group has
not early applied the following which may be relevant

to the Group:

(b)

EEMEEKRERNEEBITE
78 B 3 3R 45 2E A

HEZSHREUBHRETEH
H BESHMASEEME
TRFTAE R LA R 2RI R 22 OB
IR R EEA REFT AR E
EZENF+A=+T—H
WEFEHARER - BAREARY
BMERARA - AEBEWERE
FRERATINEEAEEFRA
AR R AR

Effective

for accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTBEERZ#E
BN E B EX

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 - Lack of Exchangeability
ER G ERFE2R N EBMBEREERIFER BFTA) —RZ Al LBt

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments

BBV BMELERNEON R EBMEREERNETHR
(B ARN)—em T AMDEEGE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
ERVBHRELER A ERNFESE —F111H

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED

HKFRSs (Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
The directors of the Company are in the process of
making an assessment of what the impacts of these
new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation are expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g.
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity are disclosed in Note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 5 e 3 B G
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
made up to 31 December. Subsidiary is an entity over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The Group has power over an entity when
the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiary is consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the subsidiary have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency translation

0]

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 5 e 3 B G
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rate is 25%.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be
made under reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the lease liability.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held, which does not have recent third-party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing
rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

4. EXSTHBEESR (H)

() #AEGE&)

EEEFESFEBA ()
RETIREREN X - AKE:

. EARERT  ERER
AR A MR BT E =T
WMEEAEY  BERB
AU EE = J5 B A AR A
BE GBS

s ERRIE AERRF
REIAFH BT A I ET
HE=ZTREHENEE
& K&

A

OH

o EHMEFHARHEE
R BR - B RIE
e

WMEBIEBRNBEHERXE
FA P8 Bl # R A (Li&ﬁﬁﬁ r‘ﬂl
B miHEE) B AEE H
HEFEL E'J%lﬁ‘%ﬁ’iﬁ%ﬂ

FARZ b R AR A R 1A Bh LA B TE 3
EERFE -

RFHE B ALy 78 1O {5 1
BENSERAGE BHHE
ERENTKLSBEMN EERS
B H#Is 2 B S E R T E
Ko AREENEANSERER
A - FEBEABRT - £ R
BEMKATBREFGF MEBRK
HEEENERMEBEEELZ
BB P M T B A B AT A
Ao ZRAABBREEREY
R EFRBEROEEEER - £
FEEERRIRKARE R
& KRB ED AR

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR

8/



88

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives
and the lease terms.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise an extension or a termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

0

(i)

)

Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI") - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale.

FVTPL, if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI. This include investments that are held
under a business model to manage them on a
fair value basis for investment income and fair
value gains. Changes in the fair value of the
investment are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as revenue.

Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL").
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

@)

(k)

0

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Payables

Payables are recognised initially at their fair values and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 7 Y A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& 1 5 e 3 B R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(n) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 5 e 3 B G
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(n) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& 1 5 e 3 B R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends either to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
(“*CGU") to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
CGuU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values
are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset/CGU whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGU are allocated pro rata
amongst the assets of the CGU. Subsequent
increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to
the extent that they reverse the impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EXEFBER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
cash at bank, deposits with other financial institutions
and other receivables. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for financial
instruments when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks
and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the

Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial

instrument;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EREFHE (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& 1 5 e 3 B R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EXEFBER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EXEFBER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

e  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

e  The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under ligquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EXEFBER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

The ECL for financial assets is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

4. EXEFBER (&)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(q)

r)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period are adjusting events
and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, the directors have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the commencement date
for a lease that include a renewal option exercisable by the
Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the
renewal option taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the
Group to exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group’s operations.

Generally, periods covered by an extension option have not
been included in the lease liabilities because the Group
could replace the assets without significant cost or business
disruption.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(@) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in equity securities recognised
in financial assets at FVTPL. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s equity investments recognised in financial
assets at FVTPL amounted to approximately
HK$50,690,000 (2023: HK$55,589,000). The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk and return
profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock
Exchange.
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(a) E&EBs
AEBFEZEFERENBRERE
BEAFEAEZSHEERR
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=+—H AEEREBEDR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_WMF+-_RA=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Price risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period.

If the prices of the Group’s equity investments had
been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year ended 31
December 2024 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$5,069,000 (2023: HK$5,559,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of held-
for-trading equity investments.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at FVTPL
and other financial assets represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk.

The Group limits its exposure to credit and
counterparty risk by carrying out the majority of its
investment transactions and contractual commitment
activities with well-established brokers-dealers with
high credit ratings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

6.

MBERE

(a)

(b)

(c)

B2 (8\)

E% Rk ()
AT RRE D Tﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ@&
HIR 2 A EAR R BRAETT o

AN BRI E 2 BI& AR
10% (ZZE-_=F :10%) ' M
FrEHMESERITE HE
—E-NMF+=-—A=+—H1t
FE 2 FEER1ES5069,000%8
7T (Z =& = =% : 5,559,000/
) cFTEXFBEEERELZ

ATEEDYE -
ERAR

EERBRARZEFHIGE
RESBMTASLEFEKNET

MER  HKMERUHEED
R -R_F_NOF+_-A

=t—R - AEERELRE
FEER ERBmRRAFE
AECUBEEREMMEE
EZRAESASEERY 2 &
REERR -

AEBRRITESRT @A E
ERBAR BARHHFI
SEREETERBRETSE
EFEORT  AEBRAE
EERBRIE -

AEBNATDRERZ A
Z’Jﬁdﬂ*é%ﬂﬁéﬁifm/\%ﬁ&ﬁﬂ
E AR AR LR HEETT
?ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\ﬂégﬁ?ﬁ
S FER -

REBE SRR
ARG BB BR 2 M B IR B
MREHRBESHE - AR

T RARSHEMERAR
RHZRBESRTE -

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative

6. MKERERE (&)

(c) RBEZRER (H)
RENEEIFTEMBEEZ
BRRMRRSREZTNHE

financial liabilities is as follows: AT
On demand Between
or less than 1and 2
1 year years Total
EEXRI1FER 1225 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET AT
At 31 December 2024 R-BE-ME+=-B=+—H
Accruals [E:tER 393 - 393
Lease liabilities HEAE 290 97 387
683 97 780
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1—H
Accruals ezt ER 373 - 373
Lease liabilities HEEE 94 - 94
467 - 467

Based on the assessment of the directors, despite the
continuous operating loss incurred by the Group over
the years, the liquidity risk encountered by the Group
is minimal considered that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working
capital after taking into account the ability of the Group
to conduct fund raising activities and the ability to
realise the financial assets at FVTPL.

'] 06 China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-F-ME+-A=t-RALEE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BBEKRERE (&)
(Continued)
(d) Categories of financial instruments (d SmEITEAR
2024 2023
—E-NNE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHET
Financial assets: EJH%ﬁE :
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRBEEERFENE
ZHBEE :
Mandatorily measured at RAlEEABRIEATE
FVTPL — held for trading — BEEE 74,940 58,951
Financial assets measured at XK AN E 2 B EE
amortised cost 3,436 1,241
Financial liabilities: MKaE:
Financial liabilities at R H AT E 2 75
amortised cost =K 393 373
Lease liabilities HERE 368 93
(e) Fair values (e) D¥E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets NEBUBEELTEEED
and financial liabilities as reflected in Note 6(d) above BREE 20 _F KT RE6(O)FT
approximate their respective fair values. ki HEKFANFEEHRE °

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access at
the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 5 e 3 B G
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

Fair value measurements using:

ERATIHAE2ALEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-& E-R F=H @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TE T TER TER TERT
31 December 2024 “E-mE+ZA=t-H
Recurring fair value REMNTLEE:
measurements:
Financial assets HREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBREATENECHEEE
Listed securities FiES 74,940 - - 74,940
31 December 2023 “B-ZE+ZA=t-H
Recurring fair value REMEDTLENE:
measurements:
Financial assets MEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRERERATEHECWBEE
Listed securities ThES 58,951 - - 58,951
8. REVENUE 8. WA
Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FRERZWAWNT
2024 2023
—E-WEF —T =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Interest income on bank deposits ~ $R1T71F 3k 2 FLE U A 51 239
Interest income from bonds (EE RN 167 46
Dividend income iz B A 932 473
1,150 758

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE

8.

—E_NFFTRA=t—HIFE

REVENUE (Continued)

The results arising from the fair value change of financial
assets at FVTPL are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
under the line of “Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss”. The gross proceeds from
trading of securities for the year are approximately
HK$188,049,000 (2023: HK$99,688,000).

The Group has identified its operating segments and
prepared segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the Group’s executive
directors for their decisions about resources allocation to
the Group’s business components and review of these
components’ performance.

For both years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group has identified only one segment and the sole
business of this segment is investment in listed securities.
No separate analysis of segment information by business
segment is presented.

The Group’s revenue from the Group’s investments in listed
securities by geographical areas are not presented as the
geographical segments other than Hong Kong are less than
10% of the aggregate amount of the Group’s total revenue.

All the Group’s non-current assets are located in Hong
Kong.

OTHER INCOME

WA (4&)
FRBERBRATEFEZVBEE
MATEEHMEERANEEER
kEME2EBERERBEREA
FEFEZBEERZ, (E18)
FEITEBYNR AFEEEF
% P15 SR IR 4B ¥E 4 /188,049,000
T (=—Z = =% :99,688,000/8 T) °

REEEBRNELEDH - WRIE
REERTEFTERIEEINERAEE
(¥ H2ERIPEEBRNTZED
HERIAFHNE AR EER M
B DB RS o

BHE_ZT_MFER_T_=F+=
A=1+—BLEFE x5EEHA
MA4 ZoEHME—EBE RN
MEHFWIRE - WESINZ IR
%%ﬁ%%%mﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁo
AEBEREAEER EMESNER
BzWATEZMEZS] - TIBRR
BANUINZ MR DR AEEZ UK
NBEER TR E L 10% ©

AEBEMEFRBEEDMUNRES °

HA WA

2024 2023

—EmF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Government subsidies AT 8 B - 14
Rebates [B 47 6 8
6 22
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B H A<
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities FHE & E 2 B X 24 15
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FISHBEX
The Group is not subject to any taxation under the FHN AKEBEAHBNAERER
jurisdictions of the Cayman Islands during the year (2023: ABRE LS AR AT
Nil). B(ZEZ=F:®) -
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in EEEAZKEIEWTU@,‘EE%%EEW (=
the consolidated financial statements since the Group has To=F 8 RMUEFTENER
no assessable profit for the year (2023: Nil). R A MR AEL B o
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the 715 %5 B S ER R B AT ES 1R SR A& B
product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong 7T|J ST R ZFBEHEOT -
Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&x FHT
Loss before tax G000 (2,035) (7,967)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax & & 7 FI {5 5 #{ £16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) E A
ZEZ=F:16.5%) (336) (1,315)
Tax effect of income that is not BAGHWAZBHIAZE
taxable (342) (580)
Tax effect of expenses that are not A F B 2 2 B IB R 2
deductible 250 50
Tax effect of temporary differences KRR E 4 =5 2
not recognised MBS & 45 3)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIEEBE 2 BIA
recognised A 383 1,848
Income tax expense PRSHR = -

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$377,395,000 (2023:
HK$375,075,000) available for offset against future profits
and are subject to the approval of Inland Revenue
Department. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

REmEHR - NEBE RS A IEE

B #49377,395,0008 L (ZE =4
375,075,000/ 7T) -+ A K #4 & 2K

) R FR R 7% 2 B0 A%k » I AR AT
TR & B R 2R 20 A i 69 T 7] 3808
T RS - B TR B 18 A] S R B AE
%o

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. KA THEH A E{L FE &

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY |
The Group’s loss for the year attributable to owners of the AKABHEEANRBGEAEEFERIE
Company is stated after charging the following: RHBRATRIEERZRRY
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHEIT
Auditor’s remuneration — audit ZER N & — 2B RS
services 393 381
Depreciation of property, plantand %% - ME kKRB ZITE
equipment 4 3
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FAE&ZE 2 ITE 179 -
Net foreign exchange loss b 5, 518 H 5 70 71
Investment management fee REERESE 167 400
Impairment on: T ZRE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - BB REE
(included in administrative (BETEAR)
expenses) 23 14
— Right-of-use assets —EAEEE
(included in administrative (BETEAR)
expenses) 359 -
Employee benefits expenses g B2 M
(including directors’ emoluments) (BEEEH) 1,860 1,829

During the year, an amount of approximately HK$165,000
being remuneration paid to the Company’s auditor for other
services was debited to the share premium account.

FA - AR R B E b AR 7S
B < 49165,00078 7T 2 71 AR 17 it (8 AR
Mkx

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. EERAFX

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries, bonuses and allowances  ¥& - {E4T K&oEEL 1,841 1,798
Retirement benefit scheme R FIET IR

contributions 19 31

1,860 1,829

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 7 Y A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
(Continued)

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in Hong Kong.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and the employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme and which may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contributions. There
were also no forfeited contributions available at 31
December 2024 and 2023 under the MPF Scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

(a)

13. EE R\ A (&)

BAE — EEERGE
AEERABERBREELR
EHBURIKET S

REBREEE LD F485F
FRRBIMERTERFERD R
REBEDFETETBRERIG
Pl rlzERTE ZEE
R EHIMEATEEEE ([9818
TrPEl]) - BEEFE S —IA
B XA B IR R E SRR
RRETE - IRIFRTESF & 2
ME BEKREEHAME
R HREREEZE
B A Z5% @ 1S A B REUWA
PR 730,000/ 7T, ©

REBEE_T_NFER_T_-=
FH+_A=+—HLEFE &
SEW A ANEREAH
FOKF w5818 € 5 808 Wt
K -RZEBEZWNFR=_T==
F+—A=+—H xEEI
0] PO R R 2 H R E S B R

MR e & AT BDR UL HERK -

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included 3 (2023: 3) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 14. The emoluments of the five highest
individuals are set out below:

13. EE R\ A (&)

(b)

HEEEREHAL
AEEFAREESHTMNAL
BB (ZE-=F:3R) &
= HEWRBRAEMF142 5
2ot AR Em P AL 2 B
SHINAT :

2024 2023
—EmEF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Basic salaries and allowances EARFH & NZERL 1,590 1,470
Discretionary bonus - -
Retirement benefit scheme RK & FET B K

contributions 19 26
1,609 1,496

The emoluments fell within the following band: B & F A T & E -

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E-EF TE-=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z51,000,000# 7T 5 5

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 7 Y A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 14. EEERRELS
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@ EE#MS
The remuneration of every director is set out below: FBHREZHFNETOT ¢

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
a person’s services as a director, whether
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAKLAREANBARES CALRECAAEUME

Employer's
contribution to
Discretionary a retirement
Fees bonus  benefit scheme Total
EXHEAEA
fie REPL BE L[ it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn ThEn ThEn ThEn
For the year ended BE_Z-mELZR
31 December 2024 Zt-HLEE
Executive Directors #irEs
Mr. Chiu Tak Wal BEELE 480 - - 480
Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri REEfE 600 - - 600
1,080 - - 1,080
Independent Non-executive Directors BI#H17EZ
Mr. Hui Yat On F-RiEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Pak Lam Tom Bt E 120 - - 120
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Chrles BRRET 120 - - 120
Ms. Liu Min (Note () Mgt (i) 11 - - 11
n - - n
1,451 - - 1,451

H e < R AE B AR AR A 115
SR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14. EEENRER (&)

(@) EEME (&)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
a person’s services as a director, whether
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAARRRANBLRNES L AT RBCNRRLME

Employer's
contribution to
Discretionary a retirement
Fees bonus benefit scheme Total
EXERmET
He BEZL Bk st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TR TiEn
For the year ended BE-2-=f1C5
31 December 2023 St-HLEEE
Executive Directors YrES
Mr. Chiu Tak Wai (Note (i) #EEEE (M) 147 - - 147
Mr. Lui Cheuk Hang Henri REELE 600 - - 600
747 - - 747
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTEE
Mr. Lam Wai Tsin (Note (i) PR (HEki) 84 - - 84
Mr. Hui Yat On TRk 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Pak Lam Tom Rt 120 - - 120
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Cherles (Note (i) BIieek B 1 (W) 3 - - 3
360 - - 360
1,107 - - 1,107
There was no arrangement under which a director REZ T -_NFER =T ==
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the FH+—_A=+—HIFE #F
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. EWEIITRERFEER BT
A& 2 ZHE -
Notes: MizE -

(i) Appointed on 28 November 2024

(i) Appointed on 11 September 2023
(iii) Resigned on 11 September 2023
(iv)  Appointed on 11 September 2023

'] '] 6 China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 7 Y A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

14.

15.

16.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements or contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividends
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$2,035,000 (2023: HK$7,967,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 330,710,211 in issue
during the year (2023: 181,050,080).

14.

15.

16.

ESENKRER (FE)

(b) EERFEAKEEEBZEX
X5 ZHIENZERER
ARRMETIABASER
B BARREENRESZZH
BEINETERAHEREEAE
RN - WRFRIFREM
HEFECEARS  ©Hx

BH e

R E
BEEVTAERRNEEZE - _NF
+_A=F+—HIEFEZEMAEKE
—E_=F 8\ o

BREE

RARHBANEEGRERERED
BERARRBEANBEFEEBEEOA
2,035,000 L (=T == :
7,967,0008 L) R F A EHITHE
AR 2 In#E I AR 20330,710,2110%
(=== =4 :181,050,080/%) 51 & -
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SR AR

117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& 1 5 e 3 B R
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % - BERRE

Furniture
and office
equipment
HFM R
WAERME
HK$’000
FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE-_=F—H—H 60
Additions NE 17
At 31 December 2023 and RZB_=F+-_A=+—HK
1 January 2024 —E-mF—HA—H 77
Additions NE 27
At 31 December 2024 R_ZE_WHF+_A=+—H 104
Accumulated depreciation and EFERBEEE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 R-—E-_=F—H—H 60
Charge for the year FANEH 3
Impairment losses BB EE 14
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January R-ZE—_=F+-_A=+—HK
2024 —FE-MF—-—H—A 77
Charge for the year FAEHA 4
Impairment losses BB EE 23
At 31 December 2024 R_ZE_WHF+_A=+—H 104

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. ERAREEE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—HF—H -
Depreciation e -
Impairment losses RIEEE -

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January R-_ZE-_=F+_-_HA=+—H
2024 ;EZTZmMF—H—H -
Additions NE 538
Depreciation e (179)
Impairment losses BEEE (359)
At 31 December 2024 R_ZE_WHF+_A=+—H -

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in Note
27(b).

For both years, the Group leases an office for its
operations. A lease contract is entered into for a fixed term
of 2 years (2023: 2 years) at a monthly rental of
approximately HK$24,000, but the lease includes a renewal
option as described below. Lease terms contained a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract was enforceable.

FHEEENAR SR 2FBERN
B 5E27(0) °

MEFE  AEEHEA —BEHA
=EEEBEZH FILHEEAHNNE
EFHMAMFE (T _=F WF) -
A% 724,000 T ERN B
EREERE FHRT - HERK
BE LB RO GRR AR - 257
AT HEAEN RER - AEE
ERAKHNESE UBEALHAR
BEITROHAMA -

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 18. EAREEE (&)
The lease contract includes an option to renew the lease for EA4RE—TEEEE RE
a further term of two years after the end of the contract HWEAEREBERWT - BEMHEE
term. The monthly rent for the further term shall be at the WA EASHEEERFE
open market rent applicable at the expiration of the current B A AFmEHEe  WEER M
term, having regard to prevailing market rentals of similar EELUYMENRITHERS - NE
premises in the same locality. The Group assesses at lease REMOHABRBEFHEEEEAE
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to PETEEHEZRZ HRAEE
exercise the extension option. As the Group is not TREAEBEEITEEHRER T
reasonably certain to exercise the extension option, the ERHAMNKRRBAENKT2EER
future lease payments during the extension periods are not EBEWNETEP -
included in the measurement of lease liabilities.
In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably HEAN - B AEERNEHKFERHIR
certain to exercise the extension option, upon the BEAEEMZES (T e AR
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant ARSI EERN  NEB @ &HEHT
change in circumstances that is within the control of the HERLEEEMEITPE AR
lessee. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there HE-_FT-_MWMF+-A=+—8HL
has been no such triggering event. FE O WEXEF@AEEES-

19. INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY 19. R B AR 2 RE

Particulars of the subsidiary as at 31 December 2024 are
as follows:

Particular of

RZZB-_MF+-_A=1+—HzHK
BARFBOT

Percentage of ownership

Place of incorporation and issued share interest/voting power/  Principal
Name operation capital profit sharing activity
MR E EEREE LY REEER RERE/
a1 EEERER ERITRAFE BMNAEEDL TEXK
Direct
E#
2024 2023
—E-ME —ZET_-_=f
Income Sky Limited  Hong Kong/Limited liability company 1 ordinary share 100% 100% Inactive

BEERAT &%/ EREEAT 1R AR ERXB

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. ZBEEBZRATFEFEZ

MBEE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHTT

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong #EX NGt & 2 B8 R EEH
and United States, at cost ETRAESH 73,280 77,056
Listed debt investments, at cost &&ﬁﬁ 57 FTEKIRE 24,378 3,363
Net fair value loss N EEEFRE (22,718) (21,468)
Fair value as at 31 December R+-—A=+—B2A¥E 74,940 58,951

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are
mandatorily measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments.

The fair values of listed securities are based on quoted
market prices.

The realised gains and unrealised losses (2023: realised

ANEMBEEZREERREEM
B & ERIE € B T AR HINE
BBBRRNTVEFE -

i 2 A T T A R A

HE_T-_WHF+_-_A=+—H1t

losses and unrealised gains) on financial assets at FVTPL FE - BBHBAGRAVEAEZY
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are approximately BEEZDERRERAREREE
HK$2,136,000 (2023: HK$7,165,000) and HK$1,251,000 —E=F - EEEEBRARER
(2023: HK$2,214,000) respectively, the aggregate of which U z5) 7 Bl 49 £2,136,0008 7T (==

was recorded as net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

— =% :7,165,000 &7T) & 1,251,000
BT (ZE =% 2,214,000/ 7C) °
EHBHEEN B REMET
Llﬂz SRPEABBERZAFER

BB EEZ W,/ (B18) F58
A e

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. ZBEERAFEFERZ
(Continued) MREE (&)
Particulars of top ten investments held by the Group as at WBIEEEHMAM EMRANFE21E
31 December 2024 and 2023 disclosed pursuant to the ™ AR B 821.12(1 )1%?&  KEBER
Listing Rule 21.12(1) of Chapter 21 of the Hong Kong Stock —E_NNERN T _=9+=A
Exchange Listing Rules are as follows: =T BRFENTAKREFHBLOT :
2024 —E-EF
Net assets
Place of Proportion of Market Dividend attributable
Nature of incorporation/ Number of investee’s value/ fair ~ Dividend cover to the
Name of investee company business registration shares held  capital owned Cost value  received (%) gé
FRRL/ FERE  REERRE e/ WEz  REWER Eﬁﬁé
FREARNER £BME BRME #R RRERLH 2% AVE RE (%) B

HK$'000  HK§'000 HK$ 000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TAT TET TAT TETL

Smart City Development Holdings Note a Cayman Islands 9,952,000 3.46% 8,001 10,748 - N/A 10,748
Limited ("Smart City’) ) . X

BRERERERAR(EH])  Mia EEEES TR

HK Green Bond 2505 (HKGB RGB ~ Note b Hong Kong 100,000 N/A 9,909 9,930 - N/A 9,930
2505“)

B E_n%n Miztb & ek T
(BmgE-1%1))

HK Green Bond 2610 (HKGBRGB ~ Note ¢ Hong Kong 96,000 N/A 9,957 9,806 - N/A 9,806
261 0“)

BRgE_—% Mizte & ek T
((HR#E=~-2))

HK Infrastructure Bond 2712 (‘HKGB ~ Note d Hong Kong 45,000 N/A 4512 4,514 - N/A 4,514
RIB 2712")

BREMBERES _+—— MizEd Eif @R TR
((BREE=t—=))

Bradaverse Education (Int'L) Note e Bermuda 2,400,000 Less than 1% 3,991 4272 - N/A 4,272
Investments Group Limited

_(‘Bradaverse Education’) ) ) N

RTEYE (ER)REEE Mizte ARE H1M1% TR
BRAAEFE#E])

Veea Inc. (‘Veea Inc.”) Note f United States 120,000 Less than 1% 3911 3,557 - N/A 3,557

g ESE] Pi1% T

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing ~ Note g Hong Kong 11,000 Less than 1% 3,448 3,243 67 1.72 3,243
Ltd. (*HKEX")

BERALEERERAA Mzt & $iM1%
([EFERHFH))

China Hanking Holdings Limited Note h Cayman lslands 3,800,000 Less than 1% 2,753 2,926 162 3.65 2,926
(“China Hanking’)

FRETERERAF Mizth FEES $iM1%
(MhEZFE))

Berkshire Hathaway INC-CL B Note i United States 700 Less than 1% 2,488 2,469 - N/A 2,469
(“Berkshire Hathaway Inc.”) . -

i E3E $i1% A

China Life Insurance Co. Ltd. Note j PRC 160,000 Less than 1% 2912 2,349 31 6.75 2,349
(“China Life")

REASRERNERAF likd M $iM1%
GEYE))

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. ZBEERAFEFERZ

(Continued) MEEE (&)
2023 —E =4

Net assets

Place of Proportion of Market attributable

Nature of incorporation/ Number of investee’s capital value/ fair Dividend Dividend to the

Name of investee company business registration shares held owned Cost value received  cover (%) Zgg

i ERm/ FERG  EGRRE \ W/ Bz BEHE  MEAE

iR EENTER SBUE  EBRuE HE  RAERLA R ATE & (%) ME

HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0D  HK$O00  HKS'000
TET TET TEL FTET TEL

China Energy Storage Technology PRC 4,500,000 2.30% 6,181 9,225 - N/A 9,225
Development Limited N

HEFEERHERARAF HE TEm

CN Logistics International Holdings Cayman Islands 1,269,000 Less than 1% 9,667 7,716 131 2.82 7,716
Limited

EAMREBRERERAR REHE LM%

Virtual Mind Holding Company Cayman Islands 31,296,000 1.46% 5,015 4913 - N/A 4913
Limited

AEERERAR ReHs TiEH

China International Development Cayman Islands 3,564,000 Less than 1% 2,679 4,704 - N/A 4,704
Corporation Limited ) ~

TEERIREBERAF FEES LM% NEH

Smart Gity Note a Cayman Islands 9,952,000 4.15% 8,001 4,329 - N/A 4,329

B fitsta FEHS T@Em

Bradaverse Education Note e Bermuda 2,400,000 Less than 1% 3,991 3,696 - N/A 3,696

REEHA litste BRE L% TEm

HKGB IBOND 2406 ) Hong Kong 34,000 N/A 3,363 3,363 - N/A 3,363

BRI ES BIRE 0 ES2406 0 TEm TER

China Hanking Note h Cayman Islands 3,800,000  Less than 1% 2,783 3,040 - N/A 3,040

HEZET Mifh FE2HES L% TEH

Hing Ming Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 16,328,000 4.34% 18,099 2,841 - N/A 2,841

A ERBERD A FEES @M

China Petroleum & Chemical PRC 500,000 Less than 1% 2,150 2,045 - N/A 2,045
Corporation ) _

RRABEIRNERAR HE PH1% NEA

w4 AL 6 4R A RR A
TR YR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
m$/\Ej%g$ﬁ%%MjEi

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
(Continued)

A brief description of the business and financial information
of the investee companies, based on their published annual

and interim reports,

results announcements and

management accounts, is as follows:

(a)

(b)

Smart City

Smart City is principally engaged in the activities of
construction business, as a main contractor and fitting
out works, as well as the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering services, mainly in Hong Kong
and Macau, and other construction related
businesses. Their other business includes investment
in securities, property investment as well as money
lending. The unaudited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of Smart City for the six months ended 30
September 2024 was approximately HK$8,782,000.
As at 30 September 2024, the unaudited consolidated
net asset value attributable to owners of Smart City
was approximately HK$135,350,000.

HKGB RGB 2505

HKGB RGB 2505 is a retail green bond issued by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, with the
maturity date of 19 May 2025. It pays interest every 6
months and the coupon rate is based on the higher of
(i) the floating rate, being the arithmetic average of the
year-on-year rates of change in the Composite
Consumer Price Index compiled and published by the
Census and Statistics Department of HKSAR
Government based on the results of the most recent
Household Expenditure Survey at the relevant interest
determination date (currently being the 2019/20-based
Composite Consumer Price Index) for the 6 most
recent preceding months, rounded to the nearest two
decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of 2.50%.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

20. ZBERBAFEFEZ
MB%EE (&)
RIEERFFRADAE AN FE
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M EERBNOT

(@) B
EREBERTBELRFELLR
AEENERETE KEBT

(b)

2 ARIREEE TZRS A
NEAMBEMEER - Efn
BEREBHERE MERER
MEEBK BE_FT_NF N
A=+8I1E]EA » B2k
REMARKEEZGEBENR
8,782,000/ 7L - R —F M4
NA=+H BW2ZBREEN
REEREEEEFENR
135,350,00058 7T °

BE#E_-_H1TH
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HFNEE B K Bl 1T BUE BT B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

HKGB RGB 2610

HKGB RGB 2610 is a retail green bond issued by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, with the
maturity date of 12 October 2026. It pays interest
every 6 months and the coupon rate is based on the
higher of (i) the floating rate, being the arithmetic
average of the year-on-year rates of change in the
Composite Consumer Price Index compiled and
published by the Census and Statistics Department of
HKSAR Government based on the results of the most
recent Household Expenditure Survey at the relevant
interest determination date (currently being the
2019/20-based Composite Consumer Price Index) for
the 6 most recent preceding months, rounded to the
nearest two decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of
4.75%.

HKGB RIB 2712

HKGB RIB 2712 is a retail infrastructure bond issued
by The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China, with the maturity date of 17 December 2027. It
pays interest every 6 months and the coupon rate is
based on the higher of (i) the floating rate, being the
arithmetic average of the year-on-year rates of change
in the Composite Consumer Price Index compiled and
published by the Census and Statistics Department of
HKSAR Government based on the results of the most
recent Household Expenditure Survey at the relevant
interest determination date (currently being the
2019/20-based Composite Consumer Price Index) for
the 6 most recent preceding months, rounded to the
nearest two decimal places; and (i) the fixed rate of
3.50%.

2. ZRBEREQXFEFEZ

MBEE (&)
(c) BR&#B=-<—%F
WS E N~ TAREAR

(d)

/\%D.%/%#T%‘JTTE&EE&W%%
THEEHEES P A
—E-XRFE+A+=ZH -8~

1. H i 1# //\ ﬁclJ oy iﬁ/u &
DERTI®RSE : ()FL
BNEHEBNEEER  KRE

R B AR EBTRBNSEE
BESFTHNIEPAZSATHAE
BEI#EEMBHEEAMOEE
HEYWEEH (B AU
2019/20F R EHIM G E B E
MEEE) H&F /@ A%
FREERNENFHE CE®
E/NEBEWAENC) - K(i)E
B B14.75% °

BRFEE=-t—=
BHEE -+ ——ATEAR
RN BB B R B 1T IR B BT B
THEBESTEGS 58
HAE-ZE-_+tF+=-A++t
HeBAREAZM—XFE
ZEEXRDBERTIRSE ()
TR ENEMEEANEEER -
R R E TSRS EBUT R
R BERERTNIEFPRAX
%ﬂﬁéj#%ﬁ%%&“ﬁ

MERBHEBYEERE BRA
mewmiﬁgﬁm A H
BYERE)  E&xb<H@A
Eiﬁ@Tm“miﬁ@@E
E/NEEEMEL) « K(i)E
B B 3.50% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Bradaverse Education

Bradaverse Education is principally engaged in the
provision of private educational services, which include
primary tutoring services, skill course and test
preparation courses, secondary tutoring services and
English language training and test preparation
courses. The audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of Bradaverse Education for the year ended
30 June 2024 was approximately HK$27,558,000. As
at 30 June 2024, the audited consolidated net asset
value attributable to owners of Bradaverse Education
was approximately HK$104,630,000.

Veea Inc.

Veea Inc. provides computing, multiaccess
multiprotocol communications, edge storage, and
cybersecurity solutions. Veea Inc. offers multiaccess
edge computing platform that redefines connectivity
and computing at the edge by integrating functions of
servers, network attached storage, routers, firewalls,
Wi-Fi Access Points, loT gateways, and 4G and 5G
connections; and Veea Edge Platform enables direct
connections from the optical fiber, cellular, and satellite
networks. It also provides VeeaHub STAX, an edge
computing product integrated with wireless access.
Veca Inc. also offers TROLLEE, a smart shopping cart
platform. The unaudited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of Veea Inc. for the nine months ended 30
September 2024 was approximately US$46,620,000.
As at 30 September 2024, the unaudited consolidated
net liabilities value attributable to owners of Veea Inc.
was approximately US$8,005,000.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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MBEE (&)

(e)

(f)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

HKEXx

HKEXx is one of the world’s major exchange groups,
and operates a range of equity, commodity, fixed
income and currency markets. HKEX is the world’s
leading IPO market and as Hong Kong’s only
securities and derivatives exchange and sole operator
of its clearing houses, it is uniquely placed to offer
regional and international investors access to Asia’s
most vibrant markets. HKEx is also a global leader in
metals futures and options contracts, through its
wholly owned subsidiaries, The London Metal
Exchange (LME) and LME Clearing Limited. This
commodity franchise was further enhanced with the
launch of Qianhai Mercantile Exchange, in China, in
2018. The audited consolidated profit attributable to
owners of HKEx for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$13,050 million. As at 31
December 2024, the audited consolidated net asset
value attributable to owners of HKEx was approximately
HK$53,852 million.

China Hanking

China Hanking is principally engaged in the
exploration, mining, processing and sale of mineral
resources. China Hanking operates its business
through three segments, namely, iron core, high-purity
iron and gold. The unaudited consolidated profit
attributable to owners of China Hanking for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 was approximately
Renminbi (“RMB”) 107,467,000. As at 30 June 2024,
the unaudited consolidated net asset value attributable
to owners of China Hanking was RMB1,468,953,000.

2. ZRBEREQXFEFEZ

MBEE (&)

(9)

(h)

EBRBFR
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FIEBE s — EBHEBRER
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FEICERTEmBER - &
EENF+A=+—H
WEFE BAEXGZRRIE
B EZERE & A4 7513,050
BEB T R-T_WNE+=
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FEZEE
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
(Continued)

(i)

@)

Berkshire Hathaway Inc.

Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and its subsidiaries are
engaged in diverse business activities, including
insurance and reinsurance, utilities and energy, freight
rail transportation, manufacturing, services, and
retailing. However, it is most famous as the flagship
investment vehicle run by investment legend Warren
Buffett. Its biggest holdings include Bank of America,
Apple Inc., Coca-Cola, and Kraft Heinz. The audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately US$88,995
million. As at 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners
of Berkshire Hathaway Inc. was approximately
US$651,655 million.

China Life

China Life is a leading life insurance company in China
and possesses an extensive distribution network
comprising exclusive agents, direct sales
representatives, and dedicated and non-dedicated
agencies. It is one of the largest institutional investors
in China and becomes one of the largest insurance
asset management companies in China through its
controlling shareholding in China Life Asset
Management Company Limited. China Life also has
controlling shareholding in China Life Pension
Company Limited and is a leading provider of life
insurance, annuity insurance, health and accident
insurance in China. As at the end of the June 2024,
China Life had approximately 328 million long-term
insurance policies in force. The unaudited consolidated
profit attributable to owners of China Life for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 was approximately
RMB38,278 million. As at 30 June 2024, the
unaudited consolidated net asset value attributable to
owners of China Life was RMB493,834 million.

China Financial Leasing Group Limited
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2. ZRBEREQXFEFEZ
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(i)

)

Berkshire Hathaway Inc.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

22.

21. BERFANRE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFET
Deposits b 62 62
Prepayments AR RIE 24 444
86 506
Analysed as: SR IV=1
Non-current assets ERBEE 60 60
Current assets MEEE 26 446
86 506
LEASE LIABILITIES 22 HE&EE
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
BERERE BERERENTE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME “ECCE k- o3 S 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TiEn TETL
Within one year £ 290 9% M2 9
In the second to fitth years, inclusive FEERE
(REEERE) o7 - 9% -
387 9% 368 %3
Less: Future finance charges W AKRER (19) (1) N/A R NATEE
Present value of lease obligations HEAERE 368 93 368 9
Less: Amount due for settlement within B ZEAR
12 months (shown under HMEM 3E
current libilties) BGIANRBEE) (272) 99
Amount due for settlement after 12 months T A% HER
LER 9 .

H e < R AE B AR AR A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is

8.27% (2023: 6.94%).

All lease liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

22 FHEESE (E)
0SB A

=EEBEENXA
827% (ZE =4 :6.94%) °

EMREREHNAETE -

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. [
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERYA M
HK$'000
TAET
Authorised: BE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, \ZF_=F-A—H8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :2: F+-A=t—-8"
“E-mE-A-BK
ZEZME+ZA=T—H

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each BREME0.04E T LB 7,500,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTREE:

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%F—HF—H"

and 1 January 2024 :gi_¢+_ﬁ_+—5&

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each H&L@@O.Oﬂnﬁ L2 BB 173,448,741 6,938
Issue of shares on Rights Issue IR BTG 173,448,741 6,938
At 31 December 2024 RZZE_MF+-A=t—H

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each BREE04E T LER 346,897,482 13,876

In February 2024, the Company completed a Rights Issue. N-EZ
A total of 173,448,741 ordinary shares of the Company
were issued at HK$0.12 per Rights Share. The gross and
net proceeds were approximately HK$20,814,000 and
HK$19,504,000 respectively. The net price was
approximately HK$0.11 per Rights Share. Pursuant to the
Rights Issue, the share capital and share premium of the
Company increased by approximately HK$6,938,000 and

HK$13,876,000, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
m$/\Ej%g$ﬁ%%MjEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

23. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 23. A (&)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(@) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it continues to provide returns
and benefits for stakeholders;

(b) To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities.

The Group also balances its overall capital structure
periodically. The Group manages the capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group will also consider the raise of long-term
borrowings as second resource of capital when investment
opportunities arise and the return of such investments will
justify the cost of debts from the borrowings.

AEBEEEEARZBIEE

(@) MEAEBEZHELLREN
EESERFNERHEDER
M

b) #F/AEEZBEMERER
53
) AEEAEERRKREIERE IR

HEX -

ZEIANEEZRRERNERKNE
Ayam - RERBARMESN B
ARERERE  BRBERF R
BRARBRERE N EBREETE
B e R E R H E AN IARRT
EMERRRE LR @R

AEENEHFOEERBEARE
AEBEBEEARAGER THRREL
BERBE REEEE AR
T’Eﬁ HERE DBERFIFEER
ZRHE - ANER (B A] E F8 B 1A CRUIR A
Zkg RIR -~ [A) A SRR B & AN Bk B
T - AEETEERERB T
ﬁﬁ*%%n sRMERERER
ZH— R MZFRE LRI
SRR ZEBRABEBERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

23. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt divided by
shareholders’ equity. Total debt comprises borrowings and
lease liabilities. Total equity comprises all components of

23. 7 (%)
AEEREFER L RELERE
Ko R RIABEBHIR AR R E
mitE - REKEREELREER
fé%@ﬁ%\ B 1A HE 2 E’Jﬁﬁﬁiﬁ}iz*ll
$’%IE’JHE‘JF%H11$5‘MTZE“

equity. The Group aims to maintain the debt-to-equity ratio

at a reasonable level. The debt-to-equity ratio as the end of T RBEZTEESIB/KE o PRI 4 HA ?1{
the reporting period is as follows: B ERLEENT -

2024 2023
—E-WF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Lease liabilities MEaE 368 93
Total debt BWEK 368 93
Total equity R 77,639 60,170
Debt-to-equity ratio ERERLLE 0.5% 0.2%

The increase in the debt-to-equity ratio during 2024
primarily resulted from increase in lease liabilities.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for
the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares. The
Group received a report from share registrars on substantial
share interests showing the non-public float and it
demonstrated continuing compliance with the 25% limit
throughout the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

24. AR A BARR KRB
BE

(a) A2DBHBMREK

At 31 December

R+=—RBR=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE B =F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F&T FA&T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% « BE K& #E = -
Right-of-use assets EREEE - -
Refundable rental deposit MREHEERS 60 60
60 60
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BBBRRAFE
AECHBEE 74,940 58,951
Deposits and prepayments & MIENFIE 26 446
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 3,374 1,179
78,340 60,576
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals =& R 393 373
Lease liabilities HE&E 272 93
665 466
Net current assets RBEEFE 77,675 60,110
Total assets less current HEERRBAR
liabilities 77,735 60,170
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HE&E 96 -
NET ASSETS EEZFE 77,639 60,170
Equity attributable to owners A2 F#EHE A
of the company PEAL R 2=
Share capital fi% 7 23 13,876 6,938
Reserves i 25 63,763 53,232
TOTAL EQUITY 4R 77,639 60,170
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February N-E-_RAF-_A-+N\HBHK
2025 and is signed on its behalf by: BEEgHELA L/(Tﬁ%ﬁ%%
=E
Lui Cheuk Hang Henri Chiu Tak Wai
BE1E HEE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEFE

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 7 Y 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_NME+_-_A=+—HItEE

24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 24, AP Al BARRETRFE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BB (48
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EATREERE
Capital
Share reduction Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
EXHIH
ke 1 ZiER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT ThT ThER
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-8-H 336,824 19,444 (295,069) 61,199

Total comprehensive income ~~ ERZENGER
for the year - - (7.967) (7,967)

At 31 Decerber 2023 and RZE-ZF+-A=1-H
H

1 January 2024 R-E-mE-A- 336,324 19,444 (308,036) 53,232
lssue of shares on Rights Issue ~ 2TRBF /7R (i £23)

(note 29) 13,876 - - 13,876
Share issue expenses RiA%IREY (1,310) - - (1,310)
Total comprehensive income ~~ ERZANELE

for the year - - (2,035 (2,035
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+-H 349,390 19,444 (306,071) 63,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 7 Y A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HItEE

25. RESERVES

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company subject to the
memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company is in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Capital reduction reserve

Capital reduction reserve represents the credit
arising from the reduction of par value of issued
share capital after cancelling the accumulated
losses of the Company in 2012. The reserve may
be utilised by the directors as a distributable
reserve in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company and
all applicable laws.

26. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
The calculation of the net asset value per share is based on
the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024 of
approximately HK$77,639,000 (2023: HK$60,170,000) and
the number of ordinary shares of 330,710,211 (2023:
181,050,080) in issue as at that date.

25, {# &
EE

(a)

(b)

AEBRESERAS

)
&R

B BmMkEMEE W SR MR
ERGEHRET -

REZMEREH

(i)

(ii)

B aER
BEREBEERARE K
REIRMDRERNESA
FEARDNRIEBER KM R
HARIEHRR T 29Ik TAR
IR - MERBERE R IR
REBEEARRIARR
TR —REBBEFEE
HE|HAREIE o

PEY )
BABREBEN T
— S ERHADARHE

BREHHIRD HITRA
EEZAR- - #EIHE
EREBEARFEBERK
mkERAR B ER
APIRER] T 0 Ik e

26. BREEFRE
BREEFENEBR_ZT_NF
T A=t+—BASEEEFEY
77,639,000 T (Z T = = F :
60,170,000 7T) Rz BB B1TE
B EE330,710211 (&2 ==
4 1 181,050,0800%) 5t & -

H e < R AE B AR AR A
SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

27. GERERE

(a)

R

MEETHFELEZREHR

The table below details changes in the Group’s THREIAREFTHELHN

liabilities arising from financing activities, including both EEEaEEE  BEReNLIE

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from Eﬁb/\ HE o BB EHMAEL Y

financing activities are those for which cash flows BEERSAExXBERES R

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the = i“l—rﬁ’\zli SBRGFERENER

Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash S EBERMEEHESIRER
flows from financing activities. s78E-

New lease Interest 31 December

1 January 2024 entered Cash flows expenses 2024

- a1 - Jo 1

-A-H THEEE RERE MEFx tZR=t1-A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThR ThEn ThER THR TEn

Lease liabilties (Note 22) HERE (2 93 538 (287) 24 368

New lease Interest 31 December

1 January 2023 entered Cash flows expenses 2023

It St It St

-A-H L Beng MERAx TZR=1-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR AT TR AL AT

Lease liablties (Note 22) REak(Mit2) 361 - (283) 15 9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B U 5 i A i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NEF+_A=1+—HILFE

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for lease
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of
cash flows for lease comprise the following:

27. REHERE

(c) HERESRHAE

® M EE ()

FERRERAMSAARE
BRIABEIA T RIE -

2024 2023
—E-WF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHET
Within operating cash flows KEREME 24 15
Within financing cash flows MEHERE 263 268
287 283
These amounts relate to the following: pasmmm P NIEEHAH
2024 2023
—EINF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Lease rental paid BEfHEE 287 283

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other key management

28. LABE

MR-B-WNFE+-_A=+—H &K
EEVTETMNEALABE (ZF

—ZFF)
20. BELTXRSF

FEEBEAECZHE

EW EEMHMFEERAEZ

during the year was as follows: F R
2024 2023
—E-NE TEC-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FA&TT
Short-term benefits %2 HA & 7 1,451 1,409
Post-employment benefits BB 12 18 A = 14
Termination benefits R IERRTS R T - 44
1,451 1,467

H e < R AE B AR AR A

SR AR
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
h A 5 R R

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements, is set out below. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

MEEKEZMBRR 2SO REAY K
FRZAKRERMABEENREEN A
BEZHMBHR T - HEBAIERER
G RR 2D

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —FT--F —T-—F —FE-—F —T-FTF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FAT FAET
RESULTS ¥
Revenue WA 1,150 758 155 95 113
Loss before tax B A& E (2,035) (7,967) (20,502) (51,597) (19,807)
Income tax expense PSR < - - - - -
Loss for the year attributable to XA &1H A A
owners of the Company eI FE E1E (2,035) (7,967) (20,502) (51,597) (19,807)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES X¥EREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 60 60 60 164 404
Current assets REEE 78,340 60,576 68,871 46,891 87,636
Current liabilities REEE (665) (466) (701) (533) (7,467)
Non-current liabilities Fneas (96) - (93) - (96)
Net assets attributable to KRAREAR A
owners of the Company EIEEEFE 77,639 60,170 68,137 46,522 80,477
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Executive Directors
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
2 v &R
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RSM Hong Kong
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the English version prevails.

BEAER  MARIRARRE -

The English and Chinese version of this Report can be downloaded from the Company’s website and can be
obtained from the Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited. In the event of any difference,
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